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The year in brief.
• Brighter gained ISO 13485 certification and
Actiste – the world’s first complete IoT device for
the monitoring and treatment of diabetes – was
granted market approval (CE marking).
• Brighter and the UAE Ministry of Health and
Prevention presented Actiste at Arab Health
2019.

• Henrik Norström was appointed CEO and Truls
Sjöstedt was elected chair of the board.
• New directors Emanuel Lipschütz and Tove
Andersson invested 9.6 MSEK in a targeted issue.
• Brighter received the final investment in
accordance with the financing agreement
with L1 Capital.

• Brighter joined the Stockholm-Uppsala Life
Science Investment Hot list.

• The agreement with Winance concerning
financing in Brighter was concluded during the
year. 3 MEUR were utilized before this ended.

• Brighter won the Swecare Rising Star Award
for 2019.
• Brighter was granted a patent for AI driven
monitoring of medical equipment. The company
was granted a main patent in Brazil.
• Brighter acquired 100% of Camanio AB.

• Brighter completed new cash and non cash
issues of 188 MSEK in 2019 and amortized loans
of 42 MSEK plus interest.
• The total number of shares and votes increased
from 74,444,484 to 96,111,204.

Financial overview 4 years.
KSEK

2019

2018

2017

2016

-79,810

-48,605

-24,395

-14,445

-9,875

-4,475

-2,897

-238

-89,685

-53,080

-27,292

-14,683

255,664

170,616

111,354

68,734

Shareholders’ equity per share

1.27

1.55

1.54

1.01

Equity ratio (%)

81%

63%

78%

76%

Operating profit/loss
Net financial items
Profit/loss for the year
Balance sheet total

For definitions, see note 28.
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A word from the CEO.
We have made great strides in
2019 – an eventful year marked by
major advances. One of the most
significant advances, in addition
to the CE marking of Actiste, is the
relationship with the United Arab
Emirates Health Ministry (“MoHaP”)
and our joint launch initiative in
association with Arab Health. It
is a big sign of strength that also
during the year in different contexts
such as on World Diabetes Day, the
Ministry promoted Brighter’s Actiste®
Diabetes Management as a Service
(the Actiste service) as a good
long-term solution to help increase
knowledge and improve public
health in the region. We are working
towards a clear and common goal in
both the shorter and longer term.
Product registration in the UAE,
that was initiated in the fall, has
taken longer than expected due to
administrative processes within the
Ministry. Even though this has been
frustrating, looking at the big picture,
we do not see this as affecting its
long-term potential – the prospects
for successful commercialization
in both the UAE and neighboring
countries continue to look positive.
The company’s presence in Dubai
and our initiatives in the Gulf
Cooperation Council countries
have, in parallel with the discussions
that have been held with MoHaP
concerning product registration,
start-up projects and further roll outs,
also resulted in a broader network
and discussions with several new
parties, including in Saudi Arabia
and other authorities in the UAE,
Kuwait and Oman.
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When it comes to the company’s
activities in Asia, product registration
processes have been initiated in
Indonesia, Thailand, Singapore and
Malaysia. In parallel with the above,
we are focusing on establishing the
right partnerships in the region,
and to expand the local team to
enable them to start tackling the
market more actively. In Sweden, our
primary focus in on our partnership
with Accumbo, where Actiste will
become part of the new Accumbo
Diabetes Doctor service, that is
under development and expected
to be ready in 2020. Partnerships
between private specialist care
organizations such as Accumbo and
the public and private healthcare
sectors are, in our opinion, both cost
effective and offer the opportunity to
secure equal care for all. The Actiste
service will also be available as a
direct offer to private individuals.
Via our acquisition of Camanio and
Nectarine Health, we have not only
broadened our product portfolio and
gained complementary expertise,
but also provided the company with
new long-term growth opportunities that are an ideal fit with the
Brighter philosophy and vision of
better well-being, where we help
enable people to live a longer and
independent life. The potential in
these businesses is being driven by
major social trends related above all,
to a growing and increasingly elderly
population. This demographic development – the group of older people
is becoming relatively larger and
living longer – and that the already
existing shortage of personnel within
healthcare and care, is creating
a great need for new services and
aids that make such care easier
and more efficient.

Brighter AB | Annual Report 2019

The foundations we laid during the
year with the capital injection of
191 MSEK in the fall, the registration
processes initiated, the recruitment
of new employees, the investments
and contacts developed, mean that
we can look back on 2019 with pride
and enter 2020 in our strongest ever
position. Brighter – and the world due
to the coronavirus pandemic – still
face challenges, but the prospects of
being able to achieve success – and
help at risk groups – even in 2020,
look very bright.

Henrik Norström

CEO, Brighter AB

Description of the business.
Brighter develops solutions for data driven and mobile
healthcare. The aim is to enhance and improve the efficiency
of the information flow of health and treatment data between
patient and care provider, and to optimize and improve the
treatment and monitoring of patients with chronic conditions.
Via simplified disease management and personal, data driven
stimuli, the Company aims to help patients achieve greater
compliance with their treatment, which can improve quality of
life, reduce next of kin anxiety and free up care resources.
Initially, Brighter is investing in diabetes care with the
Company’s Actiste® solution that comprises the world’s
first support tool that combines all the functions required
for the monitoring and treatment of insulin therapy
diabetes in one device.
The device has its own mobile connection and works for
both sample taking, when the current glucose level is
measured, and for the injection of insulin, where patented
technology enables the actual dose injected into the body
to be measured.

The patients can enjoy a better quality of life in the
form of simpler medicating and sample taking, fewer
medical appointments and the assurance that modern
and individually adapted forms of treatment are being
provided. Data storage meets the highly specific
requirements for personal data protection, and is always
subject to patient consent.
The Brighter board envisages opportunities moving
forward to act on a general level that spans several
diseases and care orientations.

Readings received, and the time and volume of the
insulin doses given, are stored centrally and are
therefore available to the care provider. The care provider
continuously monitors and evaluates the patient’s course of
treatment, and if necessary, can adjust the medication and
treatment plan to optimize it for each individual patient.

The Company’s IP platform can be applied and scaled
within a variety of clinical areas in order to create new
smart solutions for the administration and monitoring of
drug treatment.

This interaction is enabled by The Benefit Loop, Brighter’s
cloud-based system that links together the digital and
physical collation of health and treatment data.

Since 2015, Brighter has primarily been engaged in the
development of Actiste and The Benefit Loop. Deliveries
of Actiste have not yet been started. In early September
2019, Brighter received CE certifications for the Actiste
device. The certifications were issued by TüV Reinland.

The combination of the physical Actiste device and
The Benefit Loop offers many advantages to both patient
and care provider. Continuous monitoring of the patient’s
disease processes means that treatment can be well
balanced, with gentler side effects and less risk of over or
under doses. The care provider can rationalize processes
to continuously monitor and analyze a large number
of patients.

Current commercial position.

The Company has been actively engaged in marketing
activities since 2015, which has led to a broad contact
network of potential distributors and care providers
in several countries, plus a number of letters of intent
on usage.
Development of the first commercial version of the
Actiste device has been completed, and agreements
for production and logistics have been entered into
with established suppliers.
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Actiste Diabetes Management as a Service.
A complete solution for successful diabetes care remotely.
The Actiste device.

The collection of and feedback on
user generated treatment and health
data are crucial for the effective and
successful treatment of diabetes.

Actiste combines everything you need
for the daily management of diabetes
– lancet, blood sugar monitor and
insulin pen – all in one device.
The device has built-in global
internet connectivity via eSIM
technology and does not need
to be paired with other devices
to share data.

Without regular and reliable
information about patient blood
glucose levels, insulin doses, meal
times and exercise, care providers only
gain a partial picture of the condition
of their patients and how closely
patients are following recommended
treatment guidelines. This can mean
treatment is ineffective or incorrect
and that the patient can develop
problematical diabetes-related
complications. Studies show that
over 50 percent of patients with
a chronic illness adhere to their
treatment incorrectly or stop the
treatment entirely.1
Actiste Diabetes Management is a new service that has
been developed to meet this challenge and create value for
both healthcare, society and people who live with diabetes.

Actiste is available as a monthly
subscription service that includes:

All data from the treatment
such as blood glucose
levels and insulin doses
are automatically
recorded by the Actiste
device, and patients
can also enter
information such as
mealtimes, exercise
and other everyday
data into the device.
This information is stored in the cloud and
the Actiste user can choose whether to share
this remotely with their care provider or a
family member.

• The Actiste device.
• Global connection via eSIM and the storing and sharing
of treatment data.
• Automatic supply of test strips, lancets and needles,
based on daily consumption.
• The Actiste Companion app for Android and Apple
smartphones.
• Support via Pioneers, the company’s online
community Pioneers.
• Care personnel also have access to the Actiste HCP View
app that is used to check on patients that use Actiste.
• Technical support.

1. Hayden B. Bosworth et al., “Medication adherence: A call for action”, Ameri
can Heart Journal, 2011, Volume 162, Issue 3, pp. 412–24, ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
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The Companion app.
All treatment data that are saved automatically on the
Actiste device are synchronized with the free Actiste
Companion app for Android or Apple smartphones.
As the Actiste device has integral internet connectivity,
you do not need Wi-Fi or Bluetooth for synchronization.
The app displays blood glucose level readings and insulin
doses injected in an easy to read timeline, and it is easy
to enter other relevant activity data such as mealtimes
and exercise sessions. Readings and ranges are displayed
as a weekly or monthly view. People who live with diabetes
but do not use an Actiste device can still use the app to
register their treatment data and share the data with their
healthcare provider remotely.

Overview for healthcare provider
(Actiste HCP View).
Actiste HCP View is an online application that healthcare
providers can use to support patients that use the Actiste
service or the Companion app to manage their diabetes,
remotely. The interface is easy to use and requires no
prior knowledge of technology or how to transfer data
manually. Healthcare personnel can quickly evaluate
a patient’s key parameters – such as insulin doses
and blood sugar readings – to identify which of them
needs the most support. The service enables personnel
to spot deviations or incorrect adherence to treatment
recommendations so these can be addressed before any
health problems arise.

Pioneers – our digital community.
• Chat. You can connect whenever and from wherever
you like.
• Share. Thoughts and experiences.
• Coach and be coached. Inspire and motivate your peers.
Pioneers Young is an online community where
children, teenagers and young adults can share their
knowledge and support and motivate each other in their
everyday lives.
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The Benefit Loop.
Brighter has developed a digital infrastructure that forms
the core of the Company and the link between each
patient’s physical Actiste device and the care provider,
close relatives and other relevant stakeholders.
The platform, which is marketed under the name “The
Benefit Loop”, enables the analysis and sharing of the
health and treatment data that are collated via Brighter
products. The interface is app based.
The Benefit Loop is designed to package and visualize
relevant information and send feedback to the user in
a smart and user-friendly way. By processing and making
reliable readings continuously accessible, the system can
contribute to providing a clearer picture of an individual’s
state of health. The individual should also be able to
personally decide who (clinic, relative or researcher for
example) should be allowed access to such health data.

8

There are numerous chronic diseases in addition to
diabetes, to which the Company’s first clinical application
is directed, where there is a need for continuous
monitoring and treatment that can also be done remotely.
In the long term, Brighter is therefore aiming to pave
the way for other suppliers to connect different types
of instruments and apps to The Benefit Loop.
By making the platform available to others, more data can
be collected, which can be used to improve treatments, to
make the use of care resources more efficient, plan care
better and to develop better pharmaceuticals and
treatment methods.
One major benefit also consists of increasing the quality
of life of people who live with a chronic disease.
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The Benefit Loop is named after the loop the system enables.
Treat.

Analyze.

The treatment of chronic diseases, of which
diabetes is one example, must be simple to
monitor in order to avoid secondary problems
and suffering for patients and high costs to
society. Providing a better picture of how the
body responds makes it easier for the patient and clinic
to achieve the treatment goals.

The patient data readings that are
automatically logged can be analyzed
and used to adjust the treatment regime or
to encourage a change in lifestyle. These
readings can also be matched against the
best methods of treatment and personal goals
which can optimize the treatment results and increase
quality of life in the future.

Log.
Automatically logging as much information
as possible creates a continuous flow of
correct data, which can be used by the
patient’s doctor or nurse to optimize and
improve treatment.

By significantly increasing access to information,
healthcare receives better data for treating and
supporting the patient, while doctors can identify
patterns and predict consequences.

Improve.
Everyone involved in the care chain,
that is to say the patient, care providers,
society and other related parties such as
the pharmaceutical industry, can benefit
from being able to monitor patients and their diseases.
By getting feedback, it will be possible to improve and
check compliance with treatment, gain better supervision
of medicines and their costs, and improve data and
statistics on which the development of new drugs are
based, which can increase the quality of the entire
care chain.
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Strategy, results and enterprise climate.
Market overview.
Brighter is working with the
commercialization of its diabetes
service, Actiste. Initially, the
Company is focusing on Sweden,
the United Arab Emirates and the
broader GCC region, plus Thailand,
Indonesia, Singapore and Malaysia.
A number of initiatives can improve
the health outcome for people
diagnosed with diabetes. Although
diabetes is a chronic progressive
disease, people with diabetes can
live a long and high quality life via
good diabetes management.
This not only includes the
management of glycemia,
but also risk factors for heart
and cardiovascular diseases
such as high blood pressure and
hypercholesterolaemia, via a healthy
diet, physical activity and above
all compliance with prescribed
treatment recommendations1.

The company’s
positioning.
The company has developed
the world’s first medical device
solution that combines all the
functions required to monitor and
treat insulin therapy diabetes in
a mobile connected device.
According to a user study by the
company, the solution can reduce
the number of steps needed
to measure and treat by 67%.
The device also contains patented
technology that measures the
actual dose injected into the body,
compared to equivalent solutions on

the market that log the dosage set,
instead. This means that the patient
and care provider gain access to
more valid treatment data via the
company’s solution than what has
previously been possible.
The connected device is
complemented by a digital
infrastructure, mobile apps and
services for the analysis and
sharing of data, personal feedback
to encourage better compliance
with the treatment and automatic
refills of consumables to the user’s
home. The solution is packaged as
a comprehensive subscription service.

Alternative solutions
on the market.

includes both diagnosed and
undiagnosed diabetes, and both
type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Around
150 – 200 million people are
estimated to need insulin injections.5
• 79% of adults with diabetes live in
low and middle income countries.
• Diabetes has led to healthcare
costs of at least USD 760 billion
in 2019 – 10% of total costs
for adults.
• 1 in 6 births is affected by
diabetes during pregnancy.
• 374 million people run an
increased risk of developing
type 2 diabetes.6

The global market for injection aids
for diabetes can be divided into
two segments:
• Advanced solutions (Insulin pump,
CGM2 & FGM3)
• Simpler solutions (Separate blood
sugar readers, lancets and insulin
pens for injections)
The Company targets the gap
between the most advanced and
costly technologies and older,
traditional tools.

Diabetes in the world.
The IDF (International Diabetes
Federation) estimates that over
460 million people live with diabetes
today. By 2045, this number is
expected to rise by around 52% to
700 million people.4 This estimate

1. International Diabetes Federation. page 24, IDF Diabetes Atlas. 8th edition
2. Continuous Glucose Monitoring
3. Flash Glucose Monitoring
4. International Diabetes Federations website, November 2019. https://www.idf.org/aboutdiabetes/what-is-diabetes/facts-figures.html
5. Satish K. Garg, Amanda H. Rewers, and Halis Kaan Akturk. Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics. June 2018. http://doi.org/10.1089/dia.2018.0101
6. International Diabetes Federations website November 2019. https://www. idf.org/aboutdiabetes/what-is-diabetes/facts-figures.html
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About diabetes.
Diabetes (Diabetes Mellitus) is not one but several
different diseases with varying causes. The common
denominator is that the patient’s blood sugar level is
too high, which requires different forms of treatment
and actions. The disease is usually divided into type 1
and type 2 diabetes.1
In type 1 diabetes, the body has completely stopped
its own insulin production. All people with type 1
diabetes are treated with insulin.2
Type 2 diabetes is either due to the body not being
able to produce enough insulin or that body cells
aren’t able to respond to insulin as well as they
should. There are a number of factors that come into
play and genetic inheritance plays a big role in the
risk of developing type 2 diabetes. Other factors that
have an influence are being overweight, an inactive
lifestyle, stress and also high age as the risk of
developing type 2 diabetes increases with age.3
Insulin is a vital hormone that regulates blood
sugar levels. The hormone is produced in beta cells
that are found in the islets of Langerhans in the
pancreas. In a healthy person, insulin is released
from the pancreas in response to raised levels of
sugar (glucose) in the blood and signals to the body’s
muscles and fatty tissues to store it.4

Insulin is destroyed if it comes into contact with
stomach and bowel juices which means it cannot
be taken in the form of tablets. The only way to
convey insulin into the body is with aid in the form
of injections with an insulin pen or insulin pump.5
Complications from inadequately treated diabetes.
The risk of suffering complications is reduced
with good blood sugar control. Hence, the major
significance of compliance with the treatment and
good monitoring.
The lack of insulin or the inability of cells to react
to insulin leads to high levels of blood glucose or
hyperglycemia.
If left uncontrolled in the long term, hyperglycemia
can be life threatening or cause serious damage to
bodily organs, and lead to heart and cardiovascular
diseases, neuropathy, nephropathy, eye diseases and
amputations, for example.6

1. Swedish Diabetes Association Website, November 2019. https://www. se/ diabetes/lar-om-diabetes/
2. Swedish Diabetes Association Website, November 2019 https://www. diabetes.se/diabetes/lar-om-diabetes/typer/typ-1/
3. Swedish Diabetes Association Website, November 2019. https://www. diabetes.se/diabetes/lar-om-diabetes/typer/typ-2/
4. Swedish Diabetes Association Website, November 2019. https://www. se/ diabetes/lar-om-diabetes/diabetes-a-o/
5. Swedish Diabetes Association Website, April 2019. https://www. diabetes.se/diabetes/lar-om-diabetes/typer/
6. International Diabetes Federation. Page 16, IDF Diabetes Atlas. 8th edition
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Market and sales
potential.
The company’s first solution
is aimed at all insulin therapy
diabetics. Of the total number of
diabetics, an estimated 40% need
insulin injections:
• Brittle Diabetes, a hard to treat
type 1 diabetes (the company
estimates around 1% of all
diabetics have Brittle Diabetes)
• Other type 1 diabetics
(the company estimates ca 7–8% of
all diabetics)1
• Insulin treated type 2 diabetics
(ca 30–32% of all diabetics)2
The total number of insulin therapy
diabetics amounts to 150 – 200
million people globally, today.3
The company is initially focusing
on the markets of Sweden,
the United Arab Emirates, Thailand
and Indonesia.
In total, the company estimates
that around 16 million people need
to inject insulin as part of their
diabetes therapy in these countries
(approximately 40% of the total
number of diabetics).

Revenue models.
Sales of products
and services.
The first Brighter product, Actiste,
will be marketed and sold as
a subscription-based service
(“Actiste® Diabetes Management
as a Service”). The service
includes the Actiste device,
technical support, regular refills of
consumables and data processing
via the Brighter digital platform
and associated mobile apps.
The revenue model is adapted to
regional circumstances. Based on
prevailing and expected market
situations, Brighter has established
an average price for the Actiste
service of around 60 Eur a month
for the basic service. The Actiste
device, consumables, mobile apps
etc., will not be sold separately.

Health and
treatment data.
Brighter aims to provide both the
key to and the market platform for
user generated health data.
The data banks that, with user
consent, are gradually generated
in the Brighter platform, can
eventually be used in long-term
social planning, research projects,
clinical studies and for the
development of medical products.
The aim is to offer social bodies
and pharmaceuticals companies
access to the company’s valid
data banks on payment of fees,
and that users receive payment
for sharing their data.

1. International Diabetes Federation November
2019 https://www. idf.org/aboutdiabetes/
type-1-diabetes.html
2. Swedish Diabetes Association Website,
April 2019. https://www. diabetes.se/diabetes/
lar-om-diabetes/typer/typ-2/
3. Satish K. Garg, Amanda H. Rewers, and Halis
Kaan Akturk. Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics. June 2018. http://doi.org/10.1089/
dia.2018.0101
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Licensing of IP.
Since 2007, the company has
applied for and been granted
a large number of patents and
registered designs in areas such
as the integration of sample
taking, measuring biomarkers
and the injection of liquid
medication in a single device and
Artificial Intelligence supported
monitoring functionality for
medical equipment. An early
focus on patents by Brighter’s
founders forms the basis of the
company’s extensive patent
portfolio. The company has six
patent families and a total of
17 granted patents and 39 patent
applications pending. Patents
have been granted in Sweden,
the USA, Japan, China, France,
Germany, UK, India, Indonesia and
Brazil. The Company intends to
license parts of its IP portfolio to
external parties.

Research &
Development.
By continuously pursuing
research and development plus
active cooperation with relevant
technology partners, the Company
plans to be able to launch
innovative new products within
healthcare technology.

Production
and Logistics.
Manufacturing
and Production.
In 2016, Brighter entered into
a partnership with Sanmina
for the production of the Actiste
device. Sanmina is a leading global
supplier of integrated production
solutions, and manufactures
some of the world’s most complex
electromechanical products.
The choice of partner was based on
Sanmina’s extensive experience of
producing advanced medical device
products, including other diabetes
aids. Other deciding criteria included
Sanmina’s comprehensive launch
and manufacturing capacity both in
Sweden and globally, its ISO 13485
certification and capacity to scale
up the process.

Logistics and Customer
Service.
In 2017, Brighter entered into
a partnership with Sonat to build up
a global logistics function. Within the
framework of this agreement, Sonat
will drive development of the logistics
platform. Sonat will also act as an
outsourced logistics function, which
includes responsibility for forecasts,
inventory control, availability, order
planning, transport administration,
delivery monitoring and ongoing
troubleshooting. Sonat is also
responsibility for customer service.
The company also entered into
a partnership with the Speed Group
in 2017 concerning the Company's
inventory operations in Sweden.

Business strategy and strategic
goals, future challenges and future
prospects.
Brighter has a strategy of firstly
becoming established on markets
where there is both a high
prevalence of diabetes and where
the number of people with diabetes
is expected to grow, markets with
similar regulatory environments as
Europe – for simpler registration of
an EU certificate (CE marking) –
plus healthcare and insurance
systems that subsidize or cover
diabetes care.
Markets should also have a stable
and growing economy and high
acceptance of innovation.
Based on these criteria, the
company has initiated market
introduction in the United Arab
Emirates, Indonesia, Thailand,
Singapore and Malaysia. The
Company also intends to become
established in Sweden where there
is high acceptance of innovation.
Market penetration is achieved
via local partnerships or own
subsidiary companies. In the
United Arab Emirates, the company
has established a subsidiary
company together with a local
partner, the AFAQ Group, ahead
of commercialization. In Thailand
and Indonesia, the Company
has entered into cooperation
agreements with mobile operators
AIS and Indosat Ooredoo as launch
partners. The Company also has
a local presence via its own branch
office in Indonesia. The aim is to
achieve a 30-percent market share
on each respective market within
five years of market entry.
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The Actiste Diabetes Management
as a Service (ADMS) offer is
sold as a service in the form of a
monthly subscription that includes
an Actiste device and associated
apps plus consumables for use.
The pricing strategy is organic
and based on local willingness
to pay. In certain regions, the
price of the company’s services
is expected to be cheaper, while
the price is intended to be higher
in other regions where willingness
to pay is greater.
The aim of this type of pricing
strategy is to maximize the
number of users. This is because
the data that are generated
via the company’s services are
expected to become an important
future business area. In time,
the company aims to become
a leading platform for the sharing,
usage and trading in valid user
generated health and treatment
data. The company’s IP platform
can be applied within clinical
areas in addition to diabetes in
order to create new solutions for
the administration and monitoring
of drug treatment. In the future,
the Company therefore intends
to launch additional products
and services to broaden its
commercial area.
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A share price boosting employer brand.
There is strong competition for
expertise on the job market today.
Brighter aims to the be first choice
of employer for both the company’s
existing employees and prospective
employees we would like to join our
teams. Attractive and sustainable
employer brands are built from the
inside out, via authentic leadership,
professional HR processes and
where the structure and culture of
the enterprise are in harmonious
balance. Being an attractive
employer is one of the most
important of all the goals we have

set during the year in our Objectives
and Key Results (OKR) work.
How the Brighter brand is perceived
both internally and externally has
a genuine impact on our share price
and for the ability of our enterprise
to deliver peak performance such
that we are able to successfully
attract the right skills sets. To this
end, Brighter puts a tremendous
focus on People & Culture. Our teams
of individuals enhance our culture
and contribute to our know-how in
further developing our enterprise that
ultimately builds the company.

In fall 2019, we have built up our
People & Culture department, HR
processes are now in place and our
global organization development
project, Brighter 3.0, has been
started. Via the project group, global
workshops and other activities in
Brighter 3.0, we are consciously
structuring working methods,
our culture and our behavior.
How we lead ourselves plays
a key role in how we build a
leading company.

Team up – winning together.

Organizational structure.
Brighter AB
(publ)
100%
Brighter One AB

100% (49%)

100%

Brighter Software
Trading L.L.C. (UAE)

100%

Camanio AB

100%

13%
Accumbo

100%
Nectarine AB
(förvärvat 2020)

100%

At the end of the year, thereCamanio
were Care Inc
In October 2019, Brighter acquired Vital Integration
The investment
is being made in
of
Bestic AB
seven companies in the group. (USA)
the Camanio Care
subsidiary
combination
with a partnership
Scandinavia
AB
Brighter AB, that has a 100
company Camanio AB, for 17 MSEK,
agreement for the development
percent shareholding in subsidiary
to which all operations in Camanio
of a diabetes service. Accumbo
companies Camanio AB and Brighter
Care were transferred. Camanio
is a digital care provider that
One AB, plus 49 percent of the
AB and its subsidiary companies
focuses on metabolic syndrome
shares and 100 percent of the voting
are treated as a separate group
(Hypertension, Diabetes, Obesity,
rights in Brighter Software Trading
internally. Camanio AB supplies
Atherogenic Dyslipidemia) and
LLC. Camanio AB wholly owns all
products and services for monitoring,
focuses on private individuals, health
its three subsidiary companies.
training and increasing the general
clinics and insurance companies.
Vital integration of Scandinavia AB,
well-being of elderly people
Nectarine Health AB, which was
Camanio Care Inc. and Bestic AB.
in particular.
acquired after the year-end, offers
Nectarine Health AB, that is wholly
Brighter also completed
a service linked to an armband
owned by Brighter AB, was added
a commercial investment of
for monitoring elderly people
after the year-end.
9 MSEK in Accumbo, corresponding
in particular.
to a 13 percent shareholding.
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In 2019, personnel were employed
by the parent company, Brighter AB,
the UAE subsidiary company and
Camanio AB. The average number
of employees was 39 (17), of which
22 (12) were male. On 31 December
2019, we had 46 employees, 28 in
Brighter AB, 15 in Camanio AB and
4 in Brighter Software Trading LLC.
Our talent base spans experts within
diabetes care, design, technology,
product development, sales and
marketing, production, logistics,
quality assurance, regulatory affairs
and customer service plus legal.
We also work with a number of
consultants and external agencies
in specific areas.
Our People & Culture (HR)
department at Brighter AB was
created in mid-October when we
recruited a Head of People & Culture
and appointed an HR specialist
within remuneration and benefits via
consultants in November. Before then,

both parts of the administrative HR
structure had been started via HR
consultants. The People & Culture
department provides advice and
support to Camanio AB and its
subsidiaries, although the Camanio
Group is otherwise managed
by Camanio’s management,
separately to Brighter AB and the
other subsidiaries.
In the fourth quarter of 2019, the
structure and culture of Brighter
AB have been analyzed, which
resulted in a salary overhaul and
pay review, and our HR strategy
and business plan for 2020 - 2022
has taken shape. In launching our
organization development project
Brighter 3.0, our employer brand has
been strengthened and shaped from
the inside out. This is a global project
that entails adaptations to build new
ways of working and cooperating.
The project also includes developing
the Brighter management team and

corporate culture. We are assembling
a winning culture that, together with
our OKR work, is taking us forward
into the next phase of our enterprise.
The company’s business is (and
trades as) Brighter AB (publ)
with co. no. 556736-8591. The
board has its registered address
in the Municipality of Stockholm,
where the Company’s business is
also managed.
The company website is www.
brighter.se. The company is not
dependent on other companies
within the group. The company was
founded in Sweden on 5 July 2007
and registered with the Swedish
Companies Registration Office
(Bolagsverket) on 31 August 2007.
The company is a Swedish public
limited company, that is regulated
by the Swedish Companies Act
(2005:551).
LEI code: 5299001CH8K0RXSYV047.

Brighter Software Trading LLC.

Brighter One AB.

In August 2018, Brighter AB (publ)
and AFAQ Group L.L.C. established
a jointly owned corporation in
Dubai, United Arab Emirates,
Brighter Software Trading LLC. The
new corporation will introduce
Actiste® Diabetes Management as
a Service into the Gulf Cooperation
Council (GCC) region.

The sole purpose of this company
is to own options for incentive
programs for key persons or to be
utilized in association with financing.

The AFAQ Group was established
in 2015 by Sheikha Latifa
Mohammed Bin Mejrin Al Murrar.

The organization focuses on social
improvement issues within the
GCC countries and boosting trade
via investments and commercial
initiatives in the region.
Parent company Brighter AB owns
49% of the shares and 100% of
the voting rights in subsidiary
company Brighter Software
Trading L.L.C. with registered
address in Dubai, UAE.
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Camanio.

Accumbo.

Camanio AB is a digital welfare technology company that
develops smart solutions for healthcare and care in the
home with the individual in focus. The company’s platform
and digital services connect people, personnel and tools
together in a simple and open way to achieve the optimal
mix of digital and physical care.

Accumbo’s Blodtrycksdoktorn.se is the first digital
specialist care service for patients with high blood
pressure. High blood pressure or hypertension, as it is
also called, is the single biggest cause of cardiovascular
diseases such as strokes and heart attacks. Around two
million adults in Sweden have high blood pressure.

The company’s offer not only improves both the quality
of care and quality of life, but also helps make care more
accessible to everyone who needs it.

In January 2020, 2,500 patients received medical
treatment and lifestyle intervention actions in
Blodtrycksdoktorn. Work was started in December 2019,
to integrate Actiste® Diabetes Management as a Service
with Accumbo to also be able to offer “Diabetesdoktorn”.
Accumbo AB has offices in Kalmar and Lund in Sweden.
Accumbo is a registered care provider and is subject to
health and healthcare legislation, GDPR (General Data
Protection Regulation), patient data legislation and
patient safety legislation.

Camanio Smart Care.
Camanio Smart Care is a digital platform that forms the
foundation of digital care in the home. The platform can
be connected to an eco system of security alarm and
sensors depending on the needs and circumstances of
each individual. This open supplier independent platform
helps customers to incorporate broader digital care and
support in the future.

BikeAround, Bestic, Giraff and MQi.
BikeAround is an experience bike that encourages you
to engage in physical activity and takes you on a cycle
ride wherever you want to go. Bestic is an eating aid
created by and for people with disabilities, or impaired
hand or arm functionality. Giraff is a robot system that
enables relatives, home help and healthcare personnel to
make virtual checks on individuals who need regular care
and support to continue living at home. MQi – Mealtime
Quality Index monitors mealtime quality based on
research and experiences together with Swedish and
international guidelines on meal quality indicators.
Camanio AB has its head office in Stockholm, a subsidiary
company Camanio Care Inc. in the USA, plus distributors
in Asia, the Middle East, Hong Kong, Australia and around
ten European countries.
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Nectarine Health.
Nectarine Health is a technology solutions provider that
uses the latest models within AI and insights, to create
remote care and support solutions for elderly people who
want to live a more independent, safe and secure life
in their own home. Nectarine Health combines the best
hardware available, machine learning, plus user-centered
software and tools to enable care providers (both family
members and professional care and support personnel)
to provide proactive and relevant care at the right
time. The original product was developed to detect fall
accidents and send alarm signals to care providers in
elderly care homes, to help improve response times and
the quality of care. The product is widely used in elderly
care homes all round Sweden.
Technology is addressing a growing need to develop
solutions for aging populations all round the world and
ease the associated pressure on existing care and support
systems. In the US alone, over 65s are expected to account
for 22 percent of the population by 2050, according to
World Bank estimates.
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The Brighter share
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Brighter shares were listed in Sweden on 3 February 2012 and have been listed
on the Nasdaq First North Growth Market since March 2014. The shares rose by
11 percent in 2019 and at year-end the average price was SEK 5.58 (5.05).
As of 31 December, Brighter had share capital of 4.8 MSEK divided into 96,111,204
shares, each carrying one vote. All shares have an equal right to dividends. After the
end of the financial year, the number of shares has been increased to 194,443,589
following a new issue that raised 191 MSEK for the company and increased its share
capital to 9.7 MSEK.

Share price growth.
On the last trading day of the year,
30 December 2019, the average
price of Brighter shares was 5.04 SEK
per share. During the year, Brighter
shares traded at a 52-week high
of 8.26 SEK (4 September) and a
52-week low of 4.69 SEK (1 March).
The share price rose by 12% in 2019.

Footnote: the prices are adjusted
with regard to the share issue
in January.

Trading and turnover.
In 2019, 167,581,015 shares were
traded, which corresponds to
a turnover ratio of 1.7 based on
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the number of shares at the end
of the year, 96,111,204. The number
of trades for the year was 106,284
with an average daily volume of
673,016 shares. The highest volume,
15,190,745 shares, were traded
on 3 September.

Dividend.
As Brighter is in a growth phase,
the board has resolved than no
dividend will be paid.

Development of the
share capital
According to the articles of
association, the company shall
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have a minimum share capital of
3,825,456.60 SEK and a maximum
of 15,301,826.40 SEK. The number
of shares should be a minimum
of 76,509,132 and a maximum
306,036,528. Each share has
a quotient value of 0.05 SEK. During
the year, the share capital has
increased from 3,722,242.20 to
4,805,560.20 SEK.
At the end of the year, a new share
issue was organized which closed
in January 2020. At the end of
January 2020, the share capital had
increased to 9,702,552.10 SEK.

Corporate governance.
Legislation and
the articles of
association.
Brighter is a Swedish public limited
company and is governed by
Swedish legislation, mainly the
Swedish Companies Act (2005:551)
and the Swedish Annual Accounts
Act (1995:1554). The company
is listed on Nasdaq First North
Growth (First North) and applies
the First North Rulebook. In addition
to legislation and the First North
Rulebook, the Company’s articles
of association and its internal
guidelines for corporate governance
form the basis for the Company’s
corporate governance. The articles
of association, available on the
Company’s website, contain, among
other things, the seat of the board
of directors, the focus of its business
activities, the limits for the share
capital and number of shares and
the conditions for participation at
general meetings.

Swedish Corporate
Governance Code.
The Swedish Corporate Governance
Code (“the Code”) constitutes
a higher standard for good corporate
governance than the minimum
requirements in the Companies
Act and will be applied by all
companies the shares of which are
traded on a regulated stock market
in Sweden. Currently the code is
not binding for companies with
shares listed on First North. The code
constitutes important guidance for
the Company’s internal guidelines
related to corporate governance.

Annual General Meeting.
The shareholders exercise their
influence over the Company
at the Annual General Meeting
which is the Company’s highest
decision-making body. The AGM is
empowered to decide on any matter
that concerns the Company and
which is not expressly under the
exclusive competence of another
corporate body. Thus, the general
meeting has a sovereign role over
the Board of Directors and the Chief
Executive Officer.
Notices, minutes and press releases
from general meeting will be available
on the Company’s website. At the
Annual General Meeting, which
according to the Swedish Companies
Act should be held within six months
after the end of the fiscal year,
resolutions must be passed on
adoption of the income statement
and balance sheet for the Parent
Company and Group, allocation
of the Company’s profit or loss,
discharge from liability for the Board
of Directors and the CEO, elections
of Members of the Board of Directors
and auditors and on remuneration for
the Board of Directors and Auditors.
At general meetings, shareholders also
resolve on other key matters, such as
amending the articles of association,
a possible new issue of shares etc.
If the Board of Directors considers
there are reasons to hold a general
meeting before the next ordinary
Annual General Meeting, or if
an auditor in the company or
shareholders holding a minimum ten
percent of the shares in the company
request it in writing, the Board
of Directors shall convene an
extraordinary general meeting.
Notice shall be published in the
Swedish National Gazette (Post- och
Inrikes Tidningar) and by making the
notice available on the Company’s
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website. Furthermore, information
regarding the notice shall be
advertised in Svenska Dagbladet.
Notice of the Annual General Meeting
shall be published no earlier than six
weeks and no later than two weeks
before the meeting.
All Brighter shareholders who
are registered as such in the
Euroclear Sweden official register
of shareholders on record day,
immediately before the general
meeting, have the right to attend and
vote at general meetings either in
person or via proxy, by giving notice
of participation to the company
no later than the date specified
in the invitation to the meeting.
Shareholders may be accompanied
by assistants at general meetings
upon notification. Every shareholder
of the company that submits a case
with sufficient advance notice,
has the right to have their case
discussed at the general meeting.
To be able to determine who is
entitled to attend and vote at general
meetings, Euroclear shall, upon
the Company’s request, supply the
Company with a list of all holders
of shares per the record date in
connection with each general
meeting. Shareholders who have
their shares nominee-registered need
to instruct the nominee to register the
shares temporarily in the name of the
shareholder in order to be entitled to
attend and vote for their shares at
the Annual General Meeting (voting
rights registration). Such registration
must be completed no later than
on the applicable record date and
ceases to be in force once after the
record date. Shareholders who have
their shares directly registered on an
account in the Euroclear system will
automatically be included in the list
of shareholders.
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Nominating committee.
The main duties and responsibilities
of the nomination committee are
to propose candidates for the post
of Chair and other Members of the
Board of Directors. The nomination
committee also proposes fees and
other remuneration to the Members
of the Board of Directors as well
as making proposals regarding
the election and remuneration of
auditors. The nomination committee
shall also submit proposals for the
process of appointing a nomination
committee ahead of the AGM.
In accordance with the nomination
committee instructions, the
nomination committee shall consist
of a minimum of two and maximum
three board members, in addition
to the chair of the board. The three
largest shareholders on the register
at Euroclear Sweden AB on the last
day of September in the year before
the general meetings, each have the
right to appoint a board member.
If these shareholders chooses to
waive their right to appoint a board
member the right passes to the
fourth largest shareholder etc.
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The Nomination Committee appoints
its own Chair. The Chair of the
Board of Directors shall not be the
Chair of the Nomination committee.
Should a member resign from the
Nomination Committee before
its work is completed and the
Nomination Committee considers it
necessary to replace this member,
a substitute is to be appointed
by the same shareholder that
appointed the member who resigned.
Or, if the shareholder is no longer
one of the largest shareholders
in terms of voting rights, by the
shareholder belonging to this
group. Should a shareholder that
has appointed a member decrease
its ownership in the Company,
and the Nomination Committee
does not deem it inappropriate
due to the need for continuity prior
to an upcoming Annual General
Meeting, the member should leave
the Nomination Committee and
the Nomination Committee shall
offer the next largest shareholder
who has not appointed a member
of the Nomination Committee the
opportunity to appoint a member.
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The mandate period of the
Nomination Committee applies until
the next Annual General Meeting or,
if necessary, until the appointment
of a new Nomination Committee.
The members of the Nomination
Committee are to perform their
duties in accordance with the Code.
In consultation with its major
owners, the Chairman of the Board
of Brighter AB has established
a nominating committee for the
2020 Annual General Meeting.
The Nomination Committee
comprises Dennis Westermark,
Niclas Stenberg and Truls Sjöstedt.
The Nomination Committee has
appointed Dennis Westermark
as Chair. The appointments have
been made in accordance with the
instructions regarding principles for
the appointment of the Nomination
Committee that were resolved at the
Annual General Meeting of Brighter
on 9 May 2019.

Board of Directors.
After the Annual General Meeting,
the Board of Directors is the
Company’s highest decision-making
body. The Board of Directors
is also the Company’s highest
executive body and the Company’s
representative. Furthermore,
according to the Swedish Companies
Act, the Board of Directors is
responsible for the organization
and management of the Company’s
affairs, shall continuously assess
the Company’s financial position
and ensure that the Company’s
organization is designed so that
accounting, asset management and
the Company’s financial situation is
controlled in a secure manner. The
Chair of the Board of Directors has
a particular responsibility to lead and
monitor the performance of the Board
of Directors in its statutory duties.
According to the articles of association,
the Board of Directors shall consist of
not less than three (3) and no more
than ten (10) members, with up to
two (2) deputies. Board members are
elected annually at the Annual General
Meeting until the end of the next annual
general meeting. There is no limit to the
period a member can sit on the Board
of Directors.
The role of the board includes
establishing the company's general
goals and strategies, supervising

larger investments, ensuring there
are satisfactory checks on place to
ensure the company is in compliance
with laws and other rules that
apply for the company's business
activities and the company's
compliance with internal guidelines.
The responsibilities of the Board of
Directors also include ensuring that
the company’s disclosure to the
market and investors is transparent,
correct, relevant and reliable as
well as appointing, evaluating
and if necessary discharging the
company’s CEO.
In accordance with the Companies
Act the board of directors has
adopted written rules of procedure
for its work, which are evaluated,
updated and re-adopted annually.
The board of directors meets
regularly in accordance with
a program set out in the rules of
procedure that contains certain
permanent items and certain items
applicable as necessary.
Audit Committees are regulated
through the Swedish Companies
Act. Remuneration Committees are
regulated through the Code. In this
regard, the provisions of the Swedish
Companies Act apply only to
companies whose shares are traded
in a regulated market. This does not
include First North and, as noted
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above in this section, the Code
is not binding on the Company.
However, the board has established
a remuneration committee and an
audit committee. The preparatory
work of these committees simplifies
the work of the Board of Directors.
However, all decisions are taken by
the Board of Directors.
It is the responsibility of the
Company’s Board of Directors
to scrutinize and ensure the
transparency of the Company’s
operations through reports and
contact with the Company’ auditors.
The board has convened on twenty
five occasions during the year.
The matters that have principally
been addressed and the object of
decisions, concern the company's
organization and structure, financial
development, product development
towards production, growth
strategy, financing, plus sales both
internationally and in Sweden. The
work is governed by the Articles of
Association that primarily regulate
the work in the Board, the division
of work between the Board and
the Chief Executive Officer (CEO),
the CEO’s responsibilities, and the
instructions for financial reporting.
The Nomination Committee meets
on a regular basis and before each
Annual General Meeting.
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Board of Directors.
Truls Sjöstedt.
Born 1971
Chair of the Board since 2019.
Education/background
Truls Sjöstedt founded Brighter with the aim of finding a better way to treat
his wife, who is diabetic. He is an entrepreneur with a passion for technology
and innovation that has driven him to tackle one of the world’s biggest
health problems. Sjöstedt studied engineering at Chalmers University of
Technology, economics at Stockholm School of Economics and the University
of Gothenburg and Entrepreneurship at Stanford University in the USA.
Current assignments
A director of Arvsrike AB, Magnamity and Imitera AB. Chair of the Board
of Camanio Care AB (publ).
Holdings in the Company
Sjöstedt has 9,754,326 shares and 1,017,103 options in Brighter AB.

Tove Andersson.
Born 1990
Member of the Board of Directors since 2019
Education/background
Tove Andersson is an international award winning Art Director and is currently
in the process of founding a startup within legal tech and is a columnist
at DI Digital. She is prominent in the field of blockchain and founder of the
Kryptogäris women’s network that focuses on cryptocurrencies. She is a
graduate of Berghs School of Communication as an Art Director specializing
in Marketing. Andersson is an independent director in relation to the company
and company management.
Current assignments
None.
Holdings in the Company
Andersson has 18,324 shares and 277 options in Brighter AB.
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Lars Flening.
Born 1948
Member of the Board of Directors since 2011
Education/background
Over a 40-year career involving medical devices, Flening has managed the
European side of blood-glucose monitoring company Medisense before its sale
to Abbott in 1996. He has considerable experience of the global medical device
industry and its different business models. Today, Flening works independently
as a medical device and business consultant. He has a degree in economics
and chemistry. Lars Flening is an independent director in relation to the
company and the company management.
Current assignments
None.
Holdings in the Company
Flening has 255,378 shares and 18,135 options in Brighter AB.

Catarina Ihre.
Born 1964
Member of the Board of Directors since 2018
Education/background
Ihre has extensive experience of both Swedish and international finance
markets. She was Head of Investor Relations at Electrolux from 2014 to 2018,
before which she had corresponding roles at the steel company SSAB and
the Lundin Mining Corporation. Ihre has also worked as an equities analyst
for 15 years, including for Nordea and Deutsche Bank. She has a degree in
economics from Uppsala University. Ihre is an independent director in relation
to the company and company management.
Current assignments
None.
Holdings in the Company
Ihre has 6,276 shares and 50,095 options in Brighter AB.
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Emanuel Lipschütz.
Born 1980
Member of the Board of Directors since 2019
Education/background
Lipschütz has more than 20 years’ experience as a Tech & IT entrepreneur
and has realized his exit strategy from the same company twice. Lipschütz
has been active in his role as CEO of Netsafe and CTO of Conscia Netsafe,
and has many years experience as an angel investor in tech companies
working with digitization. Lipschütz has been a consultant for over 20 years
in the fields of networks and IT security. His clients include some of Sweden’s
largest companies, authorities and operators. In 2010, Lipschütz was named
entrepreneur of the year in Stockholm and in 2018 he was nominated for
the EY Entrepreneur of the Year Sweden award. Lipschütz is an independent
director in relation to the company and company management.
Current assignments
Member of the Board of Directors of Cloud Computing i Stockholm AB,
Internetworking i Stockholm AB, Spiky Investments AB, FREDCAP AB and
Fredhen Förvaltning AB.
Holdings in the Company
Lipschütz has 3,377,670 shares and 451,707 options in Brighter AB.

Jan Stålemark.
Born 1963
Member of the Board of Directors since 2015
Education/background
Jan Stålemark has more than 30 years of med-tech sales, marketing and
customer-relations experience with the likes of J&J, Radi, Siemens, Maquet,
Neoventa, Obstecare and AroCell. Stålemark is skilled at bringing organizations
closer to their end users, and knows how to create customer-centric leadership
teams that challenge the company to become creative and competitive. He is
also adept in relationship building with opinion leaders, strategic partners and
public authorities. Stålemark has an MBA from Stockholm School of Economics
and a BSc in Management in Medical Technology from Karolinska Institute /
Stockholm University. Stålemark is an independent director in relation to the
company and company management.
Current assignments
Member of the Board of Directors and CEO of Healthtech Sweden AB.
Holdings in the Company
Stålemark has 132,080 shares and 125,632 options in Brighter AB.
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The CEO and other senior executives.
The Company’s CEO, in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, carries
on the ongoing management of the Company in accordance with the guidelines and
instructions of the Board of Directors. Measures which, in view of the scope and nature of
the Company’s activities, are of an unusual nature or of great significance, fall outside of
“day-to-day management” should therefore, as a general rule, be prepared and referred to
the Board of Directors for a decision.
The CEO shall also take the measures necessary to fulfill the Company’s accounting
procedures in accordance with legislation so as to manage assets in a secure manner.
The CEO is subordinate to the Board of Directors and the Board of Directors can decide
on matters that are part of day-to-day management itself. The work and the role of the
CEO and the division of work between the Board of Directors and the CEO is determined in
written guidelines established by the Board of Directors (CEO instructions) and the Board
of Directors is to continuously evaluate the work of the CEO.

Henrik Norström.
CEO
Henrik Norström, who was previously COO at Brighter, has extensive experience
of international startups such as Swifler.com, Verajuan.pe, Casa Cor and
others. Between 1996 and 2002, Norström set up and ran ABB Equity Ventures
in Brazil. In addition to working for Brighter, Norström is also chair of Swifler
Holding AB and Adstring AB. Norström has an MBA from Uppsala University.
Current assignments
Chair of the Board of Directors of Swifler Holding AB. Member of the Board of
Directors and CEO of Adstring AB. Deputy Member of the Board of Directors of
S Kias Holding AB and Imitera AB.
Assignments relinquished in the past five years
Member of the Board of Directors of Brighter AB (publ) and Member of the
Board of Directors and CEO of Camanio Care AB (publ). Deputy Member of
the Board of Directors of Caroline Jäderblom AB and BUM investments AB.
Holdings in the Company
Norström has 1,810,922 shares and 532,500 options in Brighter AB.
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Petra Kaur Ljungman.
Chief Commercial and Marketing Officer
Petra Kaur Ljungman has worked in a variety of executive roles in marketing,
communication and sales for both pharmaceutical companies and advertising
agencies. With her extensive knowledge of branding and her passion for
driving behavioral change in healthcare, Ljungman heads Brighter’s marketing
and communication work at both strategic and tactical level. She has an MSc
in Biology from Umeå University and has also worked as a researcher at the
Karolinska Institute in Stockholm.
Holdings in the Company
Ljungman has 78,712 shares and 179,950 options in Brighter AB.

Ann Zetterberg Littorin.
Chief Financial Officer
Ann Zetterberg Littorin has over 20 years experience as a CFO, including from
the venture capital sector, Accent Equity Partners, and development companies
in different sectors, and even from the not for profit sector, with Svenska
Jägareförbundet. Zetterberg Littorin is experienced in due diligence, M&As,
company financing and accounting. She is also Chair of the Board of Directors
of Copperstone Resources AB. She has a degree in Business Administration
from Stockholm University.
Holdings in the Company
Zetterberg Littorin has 71,000 shares and 403,289 options in Brighter AB.

Nadezda Ershova.
Head of QA/RA
Nadezda Ershova is one of Brighter’s earliest employees, joining us as an
intern while studying entrepreneurship and innovation at the Royal Institute
of Technology in Stockholm. Today, she heads our important quality and
regulatory assurance work, getting the right frameworks in place globally and
ensuring our solutions meet the strictest standards. She has an MSc in Biology
from Russia’s Novosibirsk State University.
Holdings in the Company
Ershova has 19,018 shares and 2,100 options in Brighter AB.

Martin Cederberg.
Business area manager, Actiste
Martin Cederberg is head of our flagship solution business: Actiste. He brings
over 15 years experience from international sales and marketing organizations
within the healthcare technology industry, primarily from patient monitoring.
With a keen interest in human physiology and extensive knowledge of
technology and data communications, Cederberg is passionate about working
with solutions that can help people gain better treatment. He has degrees from
both Lund University and Malmö University.
Holdings in the Company
Cederberg does not have any shares or options in Brighter AB.
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Kjell Rundqvist.
Head of Logistics and Customer Service
Kjell Rundqvist is one of Sweden’s foremost logistics experts who ensures
that the Brighter delivery chain and delivery operations work smoothly and
safely. He has decades of experience in global supply-chain management,
lean-production plus purchasing and procurement from executive roles in both
large and medium sized enterprises. He also founded Brighter’s global logistics
partner Sonat.
Holdings in the Company
Rundqvist does not have any shares or options in Brighter AB.

Yulianto Blom.
Head of Production
Blom is the head of our production department. He is an over 15 year veteran
of establishing new production facilities and building the right team for the
task. Before joining Brighter, Blom was head of logistics and transport for
one of the largest security printing companies. Blom is a European Logistics
Association certified logistician and also studied law at Södertörn University.
Holdings in the Company
Blom has 1,036 shares in Brighter AB.

Åsa Hallin Dahlberg
Head of Development
Åsa Hallin Dahlberg has over 30 years managerial experience within
telecom and healthcare technology companies. Halllin Dahlberg heads the
development of Brighter products in line with market preferences with the
customer in focus. She holds a MSc in Vehicle Engineering from the Royal
Institute of Technology in Stockholm.
Holdings in the Company
Hallin Dahlberg has 79,748 shares and 100,929 options in Brighter AB

Maja Roslund.
Head of People and Culture
Maja Roslund has a passion for leadership and behaviors with a vision of
a growing Brighter that develops the best in every employee. A strong and
sustainable employer brand is built from the inside out and this is being driven
by Roslund by focusing on leadership, professional HR processes and by jointly
shaping a competitive corporate culture. Roslund has studied leadership,
pedagogics and organizational development as part of her skills portfolio. In
addition to managing her own HR company, Roslund has many executive HR
roles with both large and small companies on her resume, including as acting
CEO for an HR consulting company and establishing subsidiary companies in
Sweden and China for the Unilever brand Blueair Cabin Air.
Holdings in the Company
Roslund does not have any shares or options in Brighter AB.
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Internal control and audit.
In accordance with the Companies
Act, the company board is liable
for the company organization and
management of the company's
business matters, for continuously
evaluating the financial situation of
the company and the group and for
ensuring the company's organization
is structured such that accounting,
financial management and the
company's financial circumstances
in general are managed in
a reassuring way.
During the year, as part of
preparing the company for a move
to a regulated market, the board
has sought to further develop
internal controls and processes
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related to this. This has resulted in
a number of policies concerning
corporate governance and the
processes for this, such as HR, Risk,
Quality, IT, IT security and not least,
the management of risk, which is
described in more detail below.
The regulations that have been
established by the board contain
instructions for internal financial
reporting and all interim reports,
annual reports and press releases
published on the company website in
direct connection with publication.
As a public company the Company
is obliged to have at least one
auditor to audit the annual reports,

Brighter AB | Annual Report 2019

statements and accounting of the
Company and Group, as well as
the management of the Board of
Directors and the CEO. The audit
shall be as thorough and extensive
as required by generally accepted
auditing standards. In accordance
with the Swedish Companies Act,
the Company’s auditor is appointed
by the Annual General Meeting. As
such, an auditor of a Swedish limited
company is commissioned by and
reports to the General Meeting,
and may not allow themselves to be
governed or influenced by the Board
of Directors or any of the senior
executives of the Company.

Description of risks and risk management.
Exposure to and the management of risks are a natural part of a business enterprise.
The focus lies on identifying risks, preventing risks arising and to prepare action plans to
make it possible to limit any possible damage that such risks can cause. These risks can be
divided into strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and legal risks. Even if they are
prevented, risks can have a negative effect on business.

Risks.
A risk is defined as uncertainty
concerning the possibility of an
event occurring that can affect
the company’s ability to achieve
set targets. Risks are a natural
element of all business and they
must be managed in an effective
way. Risk management aims to
prevent, restrict and limit risks have
a negative effect on the business.

In order to manage and counter
identified risks, a number of control
activities (risk restricting measures)
have been set out. Activities have
been established to counter, restrict,
control and manage each respective
risk identified.

Brighter performs an annual risk
assessment where Brighter identifies
and assesses risks that threaten
to prevent Brighter’ achieving its
targets. Risks identified are assessed
in accordance with the following two
criteria: 1. The probability of the risk
occurring 2. The impact on Brighter
if the risk were to occur.

A self-assessment of the effectiveness
of these control activities is to be
performed annually. Brighter has
a group wide monitoring process
where the effectiveness of the
controls is evaluated and reported
to the CFO of Brighter. The CFO is
responsible for presenting the results
of the self-assessment to the audit
committee and board. The results of
the self-assessments for both 2018
and 2019 are illustrated alongside.

Risk management.

General risk areas.

Brighter’s management have
identified possible events that could
come to have an impact on the
company’s operations. These events
have been evaluated and reduced
to a net list of the risks assessed as
being the most relevant. The risks
have been ranked on a scale of one
to five, where one is low and five
is high, in terms of probability of
the risk occurring and subsequent
impact if the risk were to occur.

The group is exposed to various
types of risks through its business
activities. These risks can be grouped
into four different risk categories:

The results of self-assessment
of internal controls.
2018
7%
13 %

80 %

2019
3%
18 %

• Strategic risks

79 %

• Operational risks
• Financial risks

Eﬀective

Partially eﬀective

Ineﬀective

• Legal risks
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Strategic risks.
Risk
Strategic risks

Risk level
Probability

Impact

Uncertain access to capital

2

4

Political instability around the world

2

3

4

3

Market strategies

Growth strategies
Inadequate internal control

Market strategies.
Brighter does not as yet generate
financial income from sales
of products and is reliant on
income from financial investors
instead, which entails a potential
risk of discontinued cash flow.
The consequences of possibly
having reduced cash flow can entail
a direct impact on the company’s
operational activities, which in turn,
can lead to Brighter having difficulty
in continuing to develop and/or
manufacture its products. Having
said that, this risk is estimated to be
lower than Brighter’s dependency
in previous years due to recently
accumulated cash flow. Even so,
the risk remains that were Brighter
not to secure stable cash flow,
this could then have a significant
negative impact on the company’s
business, financial position
and performance.
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Growth strategies.
The company chose to enter the
market in the Middle East during
the year. This decision entails
a certain risk due to the political
instability that exists to an extent
in the area, which can lead to
unfavorable investments from
Brighter’s perspective. If Brighter
were to miscalculate the initial
market, this can have a significantly
negative impact on the company.
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Brighter is largely structured as
an entrepreneurial company but
is expected to grow in scale and
number of employees. For this
process to be successful requires
new policies, processes to be
implemented and roles better defined
to assure operational efficiency
moving forward. There is a risk
that were these not to be in place
within the enterprise when either
new technology is being developed
and/or the company enters a stage
of rapid growth, this can result in
ineffective or inadequate internal
governance. This can lead to
communication difficulties, which
in turn, can create problems related
to the geographic distance from the
initial market, for example.

Operational risks.
Risk

Risk level

Operational risks

Probability

Impact

Unmanageable growth

4

3

Brand-related challenges for recruitment

3

4

Key person know-how

2

4

1

4

4

4

4

4

Time-to-market readiness

4

4

Inadequate compliance with company guidelines

3

3

Covid-19

3

4

Processing of internal and external data

3

3

Industrial espionage and company security

4

4

Infringement of intellectual assets

4

2

Dependency on key people

Dependency on subcontractors and distributors
Dependency on key suppliers
Product claims and product liability
 Incapacity to estimate and/or manufacture
product needs.
Product liability
General sector factors

IT risks

Dependency on key
personnel.
Brighter is expanding its business
and accordingly plans to recruit
additional employees over the
coming year in order to achieve
the growth target set. If this is not
done in the right way, there is a risk
that the number of new employees
will become unmanageable, which
can result in the company not
leveraging its growth to the full.
The risk is considered to be under
close observation as there is a strong
determination for growth within
the organization.
The need to recruit more employees
is a natural consequence of Brighter
wanting to see rapid growth within
the organization. There is then
a risk that the company will not be
able to attract the right skills or the
right individuals, which can make
achieving growth targets more
difficult or delay planned activities.

Added to which, Brighter is
dependent on certain current key
personnel. This dependency is based
on the specific know-how that these
employees possess and with the
size of the company in mind, this
could make the company vulnerable
were these employees wish to leave.
The risk is that were the company
to lose these employees, this would
have a significant adverse impact
on the company’s business, financial
position and performance.

Subcontractor and
distributor dependency.
Brighter has elected to contract out
certain key processes to help make
the organization more efficient and
flexible. The dependency on such
subcontractors and distributors
this creates can lead to a loss of
capacity to produce were anything
unforeseen to happen to the supplier.
Added to which, Brighter is also
dependent on cooperation with
other parties for the manufacture
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of the company’s products. If one
or several of these suppliers were
to discontinue their cooperation
with Brighter, or alternatively a
production outage were to arise
that delayed deliveries or caused
quality problems, this could affect
Brighter’s undertakings to its
customers. This risk could damage
Brighter’s reputation, resulting in
a loss of customers, gross margin
and revenues.
As Brighter has distribution
agreements for the sale of the
company’s products, there is also
a risk that the distributor would
not live up to their contractual
undertakings or that such
agreements were terminated. If an
agreement were to be terminated,
this could lead to unforeseen sales
losses and an associated significant
adverse affect on the company’s
business, financial position and
performance. There is also a risk
that distributors of the company’s
products would fail to pay sufficient
attention in order to achieve
sufficient sales growth in the future.

Product claims and
product liability.
Brighter is in the middle of the
process of entering the initial market
and expects to begin large scale
production during the coming year.
The risk of not being able to delivery
a sufficient number of products on
a larger scale or that the company
incorrectly estimates the production
need, can lead to insufficient
production and lost income.
In addition, testing, marketing and
the sale of medical equipment are
also part of Brighter’s business
activities, which means the company
risks having to repair, replace, recall
or repurchase products that do not
work as they are supposed to. In the
sector in which Brighter operates, it
is natural for this risk to be classified
as higher than in normal cases.
However, there is still a risk that the
company’s insurance would not
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provide the degree of cover that
would be needed in the case of
any product liability claim against
Brighter from potentially dissatisfied
customers. The risk is that were such
a situation to arise, this could have
a significant adverse impact on
the company’s business, financial
position and performance.

General sector factors.
The sector that Brighter operates in,
is marked by rapid technological
development. This brings a constant
risk of new technologies and
products being able to circumvent
or replace Brighter’s current patents
or other rights to intellectual
assets. As such, it is fundamentally
important that Brighter seeks to stay
on top of sector developments while
at the same time, developing its own
products as needed.
Brighter operates in a sector where
rapid decisions sometimes need to
be taken. A shortage of time and
resources due to unforeseen and
sudden events which deviate from the
initial business strategy can lead to
employees having to reallocate their
time. This would result in primary
work tasks being deprioritized which
could lead to a potentially negative
impact on the company’s business
and financial position.
Brighter’s market and business are
exposed to the consequences of the
Covid-19 pandemic, which could
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lead to interruptions to operations
and delays in the supplier chain and
sales. This can also lead to difficulties
raising new capital in the future as
a result of the economic situation in
the world in general.

IT risks.
A company like Brighter offers a
service and a natural consequence
of this is that the company needs to
process large volumes of personal
data from customers, which can
affect the company both internally
and externally. Internally via
the current database structure
and platform that can lead to
implications for customers by storing
both personal data and care data.
Externally via the risk of failing to
comply with regulations, such as
the Medical Device Regulation and
GDPR, and the implications that the
company can need to withstand,
such as if Brighter’s products were
to have their approval withdrawn,
cover the costs of fines and potential
bad publicity.
Brighter has had a friendly and
open company culture historically,
even towards external parties.
Were demand to increase for
Brighter’s market offer, this
culture can lead to the spreading
of information and espionage.
Brighter is also dependent on
general sector knowledge and
trade secrets. The company
strives to protect this information
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via confidentiality agreements
with employees, consultants and
partners. On the other hand, it is not
possible to fully protect the company
against the illegal disclosure of
information, which puts Brighter at
risk of competitors acquiring the
company’s information.
Brighter owns patents on products
that are under development. External
infringements on the company’s
intellectual assets or the risk that
new technologies or products would
replace Brighter products in the
process of applying for patents
can lead to loss of revenues. If legal
proceedings were to arise as a
consequence of this, there is a risk
that Brighter would not be able to
exercise the full legal rights to the
product. This could have a significant
adverse impact on the company’s
business, financial position and
performance.
IT security is considered to be well
managed by Brighter and well
developed controls are in place to
assure this. The biggest risk related
to IT security is considered to be
how individuals use equipment.
All information is save to central
servers but there is a risk that this
information could be lost during
back up procedures on employee
computers, if the employees have not
consistently saved all information.

Financial risks.
Risk
Financial risks

Risk level
Probability

Impact

Incorrect financial reporting

2

2

Foreign exchange risks

3

3

Financial considerations

Financial considerations.
Brighter operates on a regulated
market and needs to satisfy certain
financial reporting requirements.
Inadequate processes and checks
on reporting activities can lead to
incorrect financial reporting which
can lead to fines and loss of trust in
the company.

Foreign exchange risks arise as the
company is exposed to exchange
rate fluctuations that can affect the
company’s financial performance.
Brighter is exposed to an exchange
rate risk as sales, investments and
purchases will be made in different
currencies, which can lead to less

advantageous exchange rates
and financial losses. This can then
have a direct adverse impact on
the company’s business, financial
position and performance.

Legal risks.
Risk
Legal risks

Risk level
Probability

Impact

3

4

Regulatory environment
Rate of conversion of regulatory bodies

Regulatory environment.
There are numerous regulatory
aspects to take into account in the
healthcare sector where Brighter
operates. The development of
a rapid market can lead to sector
wide challenges and challenges as to
how companies should manage this
regulated market while the company
is expected to outstrip the market at
the same time. The costs involved in
meeting regulations, requirements
and guidelines can be considerable
and the costs of not being able to
meet these requirements can result
in sanctions such as fines, product
confiscation or recalls, partly closed
production or legal prosecution.
The company can also possibly

resolve problems by establishing
licensing and permits. If any of
these risks were to occur, this could
result in higher costs, delayed
commercialization of products, and
a limited ability to generate revenues
and achieve profitability which can
mean an adverse impact on the
company’s operations, financial
position and performance.

There is also a risk that future permits
could be withdrawn or restricted.
Amendments to legislation, insurance
systems or permit regulations, the
discovery of problems with a product
or at a supplier, could therefore have
an adverse impact on the company’s
business, financial position and
performance.

As Brighter’s research and
development work, production and
marketing are subject to continuous
supervision by authorities, there is
a risk that the the company’s current
permits will not be renewed on the
same terms and conditions as before.
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Management Report.
Information about
the business.
Brighter AB (publ) co reg no
556736-8591, registered address
in Stockholm, Borgafjordsgatan 18,
SE 164 40 Kista, is a company that
develops technological and digital
healthcare technology devices. Since
2007 the company has applied for
and received several patents and
registered designs for the integration
of sample taking, measurement of
biomarkers and injection of liquid
medicines into one single unit, for
example. In 2019 the Company
continued to work on developing
its second generation of assistive
devices for self-treatment with
insulin for diabetics – Actiste® and
The Benefit Loop – the platform for
data-driven care. In 2019, the Actiste
offer gained double CE certification
and Brighter also gained ISO
13485 certification. In late 2019,
the company therefore initiated
a larger new issue to finance the
manufacture and sale of Actiste®.
The 191 MSEK issue was closed in
January 2020.
Brighter has seven subsidiaries
today. Brighter One AB holds options
as part of the external financing
of the Company and the incentive
scheme. Brighter AB has a subsidiary
company in the UAE called Brighter
Software Trading L.L.C. The company
is co-owned with AFAQ, but is 100%
controlled by Brighter AB. Since
the fourth quarter 2019, Brighter
AB has also had a wholly owned
subsidiary in Camanio AB plus three
subsidiaries that are wholly owned
by Camanio AB; Vital integration of
Scandinavia AB, Camanio Care Inc.
and Bestic AB.
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Brighter AB is listed on the NASDAQ
First North Growth Market (BRIG).
Brighter’s Certified Adviser on the
Nasdaq First North Growth Market
is Eminova Fondkommission AB.
Tel: +46 (0)8 684 211 00
Email: info@eminova.se.
For more information:
www.brighter.se

Patents.
Brighter’s patent portfolio makes
it possible for Brighter to log the
measurement of a biomarker
consistently, continuously and in
a correlated manner as well as
the actual injected dose of a drug
in a single unit, and then transfer
data continuously through a mobile
connection. Actiste is the first
application of the IP platform.
An early focus on patents by
Brighter’s founders forms the
basis of the Company’s extensive
patent portfolio. The company has
six patent families and a total of
17 granted patents and 39 patent
applications pending. Patents have
been granted in Sweden, the USA,
Japan, China, France, Germany, UK,
India, Indonesia and Brazil, along
with a general European patent.
In addition to patents the Company
also has technical expertise in
the field, making it difficult for
competitors to copy the Company’s
products and methods.
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Investments.
The company continuously invests
in the development of medical
technology apparatus and
associated IT structure. To date,
this has primarily concerned
investments in the recently CE marked
Actiste device and its associated app,
The Benefit Loop. Future investments
will be made in the development of
Actiste and new offerings. Investments
are also made in tools and inventory
for the production of the Actiste and
in patents and IP rights to protect
developed and future offerings.
The Company has also made certain
investments in financial stakes in
companies that have developed out
of its own business. This primarily
concerns Camanio Care, that was
previously a subsidiary company
in the Group, but after distributing
a larger part of the holding to
shareholders in Brighter, became an
associated company. In October
2019, Brighter acquired the Camanio
Care subsidiary company Camanio
AB, for 17 MSEK via a non-cash issue,
to which all operations in Camanio
Care were transferred. Brighter also
completed a commercial investment
of 9 MSEK in Accumbo, corresponding
to a 13 percent shareholding, in the
fourth quarter. The investment is
being made in combination with
a partnership agreement for the
development of a diabetes service.
Accumbo is a digital care provider
that has an offer concerning chronic
diseases aimed at pharmacies,
insurance companies and clinics
for treating patients with high blood
pressure. Via an offset issue after
the year end, Brighter has also
invested in Nectarine Health AB
that offers an intelligent monitoring
solution primarily aimed at elderly
people living at home or in an elderly
care home.

Risks and risk
management.
Risks are a natural element of
all business and they must be
managed in an effective way. Risk
management aims to prevent, restrict
and limit risks have a negative effect
on the business. Brighter performs
an annual risk assessment where
Brighter identifies and assesses risks
that threaten to prevent Brighter’
achieving its targets. Based on this,
Brighter develops internal controls
to manage these risk effectively.
This risk work is described in more
detail on pages 31-35.

Risks and uncertainty
factors related to the
COVID-19 pandemic
At time of writing, the business has
not been impacted by Covid-19
but as the situation is extremely
unpredictable, we cannot exclude
the risk of future interruptions.
We are actively working with risk
management related to the Covid-19
pandemic that addresses our
personnel, logistics and production
interruptions, sales processes etc.
This extraordinary situation can
come to have a negative impact
on the business in 2020, but the
company cannot assess the possible
effects of this at this stage.

Financing.
The commercialization of Actiste,
with an ambitious plan for future
growth and development, requires
the Company to have adequate
working capital to finance both
capital tied up in inventory for future
deliverables and the build-up of
production. Funding the business
is a very important part of the
Company’s growth strategy and
this issue is a continuous part of the
work of the Company's management.
During the year, the group has had
a capital injection of 188 MSEK
via new cash and non cash share
issues. At the end of the year, all
loans had been converted or repaid
except for 9 MSEK which was repaid
in January 2020. At the end of the
year, a new issue was initiated
that closed in January 2020, that
brought the company 191 MSEK.
Via this financing, the board and
management assess that the group’s
capital requirements for operating
activities will be secured for at least
the coming 12 months. However,
the board and management assess
that the group will eventually need
additional financing in order to be
able to develop the business in line
with the strategic direction already
resolved on.
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Sales, production
and CE marking.
Sales work is continuing in a positive
spirit in both the United Arab
Emirates and other focus markets.
Sales and business targets are
focused on the markets with strong
needs and the ideal conditions to
implement digitalized treatment
and monitoring systems, and as
such, the partnership between
Brighter and the AFAQ Group L.L.C.
is one of Brighter’s more promising
market breakthroughs. Brighter
and AFAQ have entered into a
partnership and have established
a company together with a head
office in Dubai with the express aim
of introducing Actiste® Diabetes
Management as a Service in the
Gulf Cooperation Council (G.C.C.)
region. The AFAQ Group is committed
to the success of Brighter in the
G.C.C. region. This is a huge and
growing market. The International
Diabetes Federation predicts that the
number of diabetics in the region will
increase by 100% from 2017–2045,
making it one of the world’s fastest
growing regions for diabetes.
Sanmina, our experienced partner
for the production of Actiste, has
started manufacturing. Actiste was
granted CE marking in September
2019, which was a significant
breakthrough for the group. Actiste
was certified in two CE categories
at the same time. It is a combined
device based on the intersection
between MDD and IVDD. This has
made the regulation process for
the device very complex. Brighter
has also gained ISO 13485
certification during the year, which
is ISO certification for the quality
management system.
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Financial performance for 2019 financial year.
Income.
Net sales amounted to 2,398 KSEK
(0) and consisted of income from
the business in Camanio. Other
operating income amounted to
886 KSEK (1,052) for the full year
2019. Activated work for own account
was 34,563 KSEK (25,021).

Operating profit/loss.
Operating profit/loss for 2019 was
–79,810 KSEK (–48,605). This higher
loss was largely due to impairments
of inventory, that had passed
best-before dates, of 7.3 MSEK (0),
and depreciation of capitalized
expenditure for development work
on Actiste that was started in quarter
four after Actiste had gained CE
marking approval in September.
Depreciation for the year was
4.3 MSEK (0). This also contributed
to the operating loss made by
Camanio AB of –4.3 MSEK (0).
Employee costs amounted to
–23,418 KSEK (–13,014) At the end
of the period, the group had 47
(17) employees. Brighter AB had
28 employees, four in subsidiary
company Brighter Software Trading
L.LC. in the UAE and 14 were
employed at Camanio AB. A number
of external consultants work for the
company, which is reported as a cost
under Other external costs.
As Actiste gained CE marking
approval in September, depreciation
of capitalized expenditure for
development work started.
Depreciation was started in quarter
four and amounted to 4,335 KSEK (0)
during the year. Depreciation is
spread over eight years, which is the
assessed useful life of the assets.

Financial position.
Capitalized expenditure for
development work for the year
was 34,563 KSEK (25,021) which
in principle, exclusively relates to
Actiste and the development of future
generations of the Actiste family.
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Actiste. The book value of the group’s
intangible assets amounted to
142,630 KSEK (98,348).
Tangible non current assets
amounted to 16,470 KSEK (8,536).
The increase in the equipment is from
investments in the production line,
tools and other production-related
equipment for the production of
Actiste. Depreciation of this inventory
will start as soon as the production
line is in full use.
One right of use asset of 2,306 KSEK
was acquired as part of the acquisition
of Camanio and classification of their
leases as per IFRS 16.
During the year, a partnership
was entered into with Accumbo AB
for the development of a diabetes
service as a complement to the
high blood pressure related service
offered by Accumbo today. Brighter
invested 9 MSEK in Accumbo AB at
the same time, which corresponds
to a 13% holding.
Group inventory amounted to
6,831 KSEK (7,070) and consists
of finished Actiste devices and
consumables for the Actiste
service plus inventory related
to Camanio’s offer.
An impairment of inventory was done
totaling 7.3 MSEK during the year as
a result of consumables that were
past their best before date.
‘Other current receivables’,
43,695 KSEK (28,158) included
pre payments to Sanmina for the
production of Actiste of 35.7 MSEK
(14.9).
As of 31 December 2019, the
company had shareholders’ equity
of 207,775 KSEK (106,918), which
corresponds to an equity ratio of
81% (63%).
The group’s non current liabilities
consist of a loan from Almi to
Camanio AB.
Current interest-bearing liabilities
consist of Camanio’s share of current
liabilities to Almi and a loan of
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9 MSEK, from a private loan provider,
which was used to finance the
investment in Accumbo AB. The loan
was repaid in January 2020.

Cash flow.
At the start of the year, the group had
cash and cash equivalents of 9,031
KSEK (10,017), which had increased
to 9,340 KSEK (9,031) at the end of
the year.
Cash flow from operating activities
including changes in working
capital amounted to –114,222 KSEK
(–68,249).
Cash flow from investment activities
amounted to –38,492 KSEK (–42,750)
which included an increase in
investments in intangible assets
of 34,563 KSEK (26,026) and
5,562 KSEK (3,961) in tangible
assets. In principle investment in
tangible assets relates entirely to
investment in equipment for the
production of Actiste.
During the year, the group received
liquidity via new issues and loans of
153 023 KSEK (110,013) net of issue
costs. Winance provided 32 MSEK
of this before the agreement was
terminated at the end of 2019.
Private investors contributed loans
of 9 MSEK. The group amortized
loans of 42 MSEK during the year.
No capital was provided through
L1 Capital. L1 Capital and Winance’s
facilities were both fully converted at
the end of 2019 and no outstanding
debt remained. For further
information on L1 Capital and
Winance, see note 25.
In 2019, capital of 3,723 KSEK was
received via the exercising of share
warrants TO4 and TO3.
Total cash flow for the period was
309 KSEK (–986).

Sustainability.
Brighter addresses sustainability
on several levels via its products
and services: no only from an
environment and ecosystem
perspective with regard to
production, logistics and waste,
but also from a broader economic
and social perspective. Around half
the population of Sweden have one
or more chronic diseases and this
group accounts for around 85%
of healthcare costs (statement by
the Swedish Association of Local
Authorities and Regions on 15 March
2019). In the EU as a whole, chronic
diseases account for between
70 and 80% of such costs. Resource
optimization within the treatment of
chronic diseases frees up significant
resources and creates a more
efficient care system, w which by
extension, enables a more long-term
sustainable society.
Via Brighter’s subscription based
sales model and insight entire
product life cycles, the actual
compliance with treatment and
resource expenditure with regard to
patient use of consumable products.
Actiste® Diabetes Management as
a Service has also been designed for
insulin refill which opens up the free
choice of different price levels for
insulin in different parts of the world.
Brighter supports the UN Global
Goals for Sustainable Development
within the parameters of Agenda
2030 and embraces goal
3 specifically – Ensuring healthy
lives and promoting the well-being
for all at all ages – and also the
sub goal of reducing the number
of people who die prematurely of
a non-communicable disease (NCD)
such as diabetes, via preventative
measures and treatment. To achieve
these goals, Brighter believes
governments and companies must
work closely together in combination
with smart digital solutions.

Future financial reports.
Interim report January – March 2020: 5/22/2020
Interim report for 6-months ending 30 June 2020: 8/28/2020
Interim report July – September 2020: 11/20/2020

Annual General Meeting 2020.
The Brighter AB Annual General Meeting will be
held on 10 June, from 10 am at Borgarfjordsgatan
18, Kista. The agenda will be available to read as
part of the invitation on the company website.

Proposed appropriation
of the Company’s profit or loss.
The board proposes that no share dividend be paid for the financial
year and the disposable funds should be appropriated as below:

Share premium reserve
Profit/Loss carried forward
Profit/Loss for the year

432,120,718
–241,522,200
–83,446,467

Total

107,152,051

Carried forward as transfer
to a new account

107,152,051

For information regarding the earnings and position in general,
refer to the following income statement, balance sheet and cash
flow statement, and their notes below.
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Financial Statements.
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Amounts in KSEK

Note

Jan–Dec 2019

Jan–Dec 2018

2,398

0

34,563

25,021

886

1,052

Total

37,848

26,073

Raw materials and supplies

–1,246

0

5, 7

–78,409

–56,658

6

–23,418

–13,014

5, 11, 12

–5,113

–163

Net sales
Activated work on own account
Other operating income

4

Other external costs
Employee costs
Depreciation/impairment of tangible and intangible non current assets
Other operating costs

4

Income from shares in associated companies after tax
Operating profit/loss
Financial income
Financial expenses

–7,935

–566

–1,536

–4,278

–79,810

–48,605

1,548

1,520

–11,423

–5,996

–9,875

–4,475

–89,685

–53,080

0

0

–89,685

–53,080

477

68

Total comprehensive income for the period

–89,208

–53,012

Attributable to Parent Company’s shareholders

–89,208

–53,012

Jan–Dec 2019

Jan–Dec 2018

Net financial items

8

Profit/loss before tax
Income tax

10

Profit/loss for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Translation differences on foreign business

Amounts in SEK
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Earnings per share before dilution

9

–0.99

–0.74

Earnings per share after dilution

9

–0.99

–0.74
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Consolidated statement of financial position.
Amounts in KSEK

Note

Capitalized expenditure for development work
Concessions, patents, licenses, trademarks and similar rights
Goodwill
Total intangible assets

11

Equipment, tools and fixtures
Right of use assets

5

Dec 31 2019

Dec 31 2018

142,630

98,348

6,042

4,581

10,005

0

158,677

102,929

1,332

84

2,306

0

12,831

8,452

16,470

8,536

Other non current securities

9,930

964

Other non current receivables

1,663

0

Construction in progress
Total property, plant and equipment

12

Total financial non current assets

23

Total non current assets
Inventories

13

Total Inventories
Accounts receivable

14, 16

Claims on associated companies
Current tax claims

11,593

964

186,740

112,430

6,831

7,070

6,831

7,070

701

200

0

12,000

3,372

2,542

Other current receivables

15

43,695

25,616

Prepayments and accrued income

17

4,986

1,727

52,753

42,085

9,340

9,031

Total current receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

18

Total current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

Amounts in KSEK

Note

Share capital

20, 21

Other contributed shareholders’ equity

68,924

58,186

255,664

170,616

Dec 31 2019

Dec 31 2018

4,806

3,722

432,689

243,138

–229,720

–139,942

Total shareholders’ equity

207,775

106,918

Total shareholders’ equity attributable to Parent Company shareholders

207,775

106,918

5

1,390

0

191

0

16, 19

1.581

0

16, 19

13,685

3,960

Retained earnings

Non current interest-bearing liabilities
Other non current liabilities
Total non current liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Convertible debt instruments

16, 19, 25

0

9,893

Other interest-bearing liabilities

5, 19, 25

10,642

42,000

6,767

148

Other current liabilities
Accrued costs and prepaid income

29

Total current liabilities
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
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15,215

7,697

46,308

63,698

255,664

170,616
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Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders' equity.
Amounts in KSEK
Balance brought forward, January 1 2018

Share
capital

Other
contributed
shareholders’
equity

Profit/loss
carried forward
(including profit/
loss for the period)

Total
shareholders’
equity

3,248

171,071

–86,930

87,389

–53,080

–53,080

Profit/loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

68

68

Total comprehensive income

–53,012

–53,012

Transactions with shareholders
The value of conversion rights for convertible debt instruments

6,253

6,253

Conversion of convertible debt instruments

254

33,022

33,276

New issues, cash and offsetting

220

34,435

34,656

–1,643

–1,643

Issue costs
Total transactions with shareholders

474

72.067

0

72,541

Closing balance, 31 December 2018

3,722

243,138

–139,942

106,918

Balance brought forward, January 1 2019

3,722

243,138

–139,942

106,918

–89,685

–89,685

Profit/loss for the year
Translation differences on foreign business
Total comprehensive income

477

477

–89,208

–89,208

Transactions with shareholders
Conversion of convertible debt instruments

71

Value of conversion rights

10,637

2,876

2,876

Offset issues

250

44,164

44,414

Cash issues

682

114,950

115,632

80

16.920

17,000

Total transactions with shareholders

1,083

188,982

0

190,065

Closing balance, 31 December 2019

4,806

432,120

–229,150

207,775

Non–cash issues
Issue costs

40

10,565

–494
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Consolidated statement of cash flow.
Amounts in KSEK

Note

Jan–Dec 2019

Jan–Dec 2018

–79,810

–48,605

14,762

4,441

0

34

–7,185

–1,740

0

0

–72,233

–45,871

239

–7,070

Increase/decrease in operating receivables

–22,931

–8,274

Increase/decrease in operating liabilities

–19,297

–7,034

Total change in working capital

–41,988

–22,378

–114,222

–68,249

–34.563

–26,026

–5,562

–3,961

12,263

–12,263

Operating profit/loss
Adjustment for items not included in cash flow

26

Interest received
Interest paid
Income tax paid
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital
Increase/decrease in inventories

Cash flow from operating activities
Investments in intangible assets
Investments in property, plant and equipment
Investments in and loans to associated companies

16

Investment in financial assets

–10,629

–500

Cash flow from investment activities

–38,492

–42,750

4,000

77,000

0

–900

149,517

34,656

–494

–743

153,023

110.013

309

–986

Opening cash and cash equivalents

9,031

10,017

Closing cash and cash equivalents

9,340

9,031

Loans raised
Cost of capital for convertible loans
New share issues and warrants
New share issue costs
Cash flow from financing activities
Cash flow for the period
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Parent company income statement.
Amounts in KSEK

Note

Jan–Dec 2019

Jan–Dec 2018

34,563

25,021

368

908

34,931

25,929

–71,093

–54,949

6

–17,443

–12,431

11, 12

–4,400

–163

Other operating costs

–7,904

–415

Total operating costs

–100,841

–67,958

Operating profit/loss

–65,909

–42,030

982

1,496

–18,519

–10,441

Activated work on own account
Other operating income
Total
Other external costs
Employee costs
Depreciation/impairment of tangible and intangible non current assets

Other interest income and similar income
Interest expenses and similar expenses
Total profit from financial items

–17,537

–8,945

Profit/loss after financial items

–83,446

–50,974

0

0

0

0

–83,446

–50,974

Appropriations
Tax on profit/loss for the period

10

Profit/loss for the period

42

Brighter AB | Annual Report 2019

Parent company balance sheet.
Amounts in KSEK

Note

Capitalized expenditure for development work
Concessions, patents, licenses, trademarks and similar rights
Total intangible non current assets

11

Equipment, tools and fixtures
Construction in progress

Dec 31 2019

Dec 31 2018

128,576

98,348

5,966

4,581

134,542

102,929

131

84

12,831

8,452

Total property, plant and equipment

12

12,963

8,536

Shares in Group companies

22

17,789

789

Shares in associated companies

23

0

6,227

Other non current securities

9,960

964

Non current receivables

1,634

0

Total financial non current assets

29,382

7,980

176,887

119,445

4,808

7,070

4,808

7,070

Accounts receivable

0

200

Receivables from associated companies

0

12,000

Total non current assets
Inventories

13

Total Inventories

Receivables from Group companies

19,286

2,898

Other receivables

15

46,407

28,157

Prepayments and accrued income

17

4,460

1,727

70.153

44,982

7,006

7,566

81,967

59,618

258,854

179,063

Dec 31 2019

Dec 31 2018

4,806

3,722

Development expenses fund

109,979

75,968

Restricted shareholders’ equity

114,784

79,691

Total current receivables
Cash at bank and in hand
Total current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

Amounts in KSEK

Note

Share capital

20, 21

Share premium

432,121

243,139

Retained earnings

-241,522

-156,538

-83,446

-50,974

Profit/loss for the period
Unrestricted shareholders’ equity

107,152

35,627

Total shareholders’ equity

221,936

115,317

11,760

3,960

0

9,893

Accounts payable
Convertible loans

16, 19, 25

Other interest-bearing liabilities

16, 19, 25

Other liabilities
Accrued costs and prepaid income
Total current liabilities
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
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9,000

42,000

1,109

222

15,048

7,671

36,918

63,746

258,854

179,063

43

Parent company statement of changes in shareholders’ equity.
Amounts in KSEK
Balance brought forward, January 1 2018

Share
capital

Development
expenses
fund

Share
premium

3,248

51,560

171,071

Issue of convertible debt instruments

Profit/loss
Retained
for the
earnings
year
–109,288

93,750

6,253

6,253

Conversion of convertible debt instruments

254

33,022

33,276

New issues, cash and offsetting

220

34,435

34,656

Issue costs

–1,643

Appropriations as resolved at the AGM

–1,643
–22,842

Development costs fund

24,408

22,842

–24,408

Profit/loss for the year

0
0

–50,974

–50,974

Closing balance, 31 December 2018

3,722

75,968

243,138

–156,538

–50,974

115,317

Balance brought forward, January 1 2019

3,722

75,968

243,138

–156,538

–50,974

115,317

Conversion of convertible debt instruments

71

10,565
2,876

2,876

Offset issues

250

44,164

44,414

Cash issues

682

114,950

115,632

80

16,920

17,000

–494

–494

Value of conversion rights

Non–cash issues
Issue costs
Appropriated as resolved by the AGM

10,637

–50,974

Development costs fund

34,010

Closing balance, 31 December 2019

4,805

109,978

50,974

–34,010

Profit/loss for the year

44

–22,842

Total
shareholders’
equity

432,120

Brighter AB | Annual Report 2019

–241,522

0
0

–83,446

–83,446

–83,446

221,935

Parent company statement of cash flows.
Amounts in KSEK

Note

Operating profit/loss
Adjustment for items not included in cash flow
Interest received
Interest paid
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital
Increase/decrease in inventories
Increase/decrease in operating receivables
Increase/decrease in operating liabilities
Total change in working capital
Cash flow from operating activities
Investments in intangible assets
Investments in property, plant and equipment

Jan–Dec 2019

Jan–Dec 2018

–65,909

–42,030

12,304

163

0

34

–6,425

–1,740

–60,031

–14,717

2,262

–7,070

–36,952

–11,154

–6,172

–6,986

–40,862

–25,210

–100,892

–68,783

–34,563

–26,026

–4,395

–3,961

–17,000

–739

Investments in and loans to associated companies

12,263

–12,263

Investment in financial assets

–8,995

–500

–52,690

–43,489

4,000

77,000

0

–900

149,517

34,656

–494

–743

153,023

110,013

Cash flow for the period

–560

–2,259

Opening cash and cash equivalents

7,566

9,825

Closing cash and cash equivalents

7,006

7,566

Investment in group companies

Cash flow from investment activities
Raising of convertible loans
Cost of capital for convertible loans
New issues of shares and warrants
New share issue costs
Cash flow from financing activities
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Notes to financial statements.
Note 1. Accounting principles.
Summary of significant accounting policies.
The most important accounting principles that have been applied in producing
the consolidated accounts are stated below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated. Unless otherwise indicated
the information applies to both the Parent Company and the Group.

1.1 Basis for the preparation of the statements.
The consolidated financial statements for Brighter have been prepared in
accordance with Årsredovisningslagen [the Swedish Annual Accounts Act], RFR 1
Supplementary Accounting Rules for Corporate Groups, as well as the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the interpretations of the IFRS
Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) as adopted by the EU.
The consolidated accounts have been produced in accordance with IFRS. The
consolidated accounts have been produced in accordance with the cost method.
Preparing statements in compliance with IFRS requires the use of certain
significant estimates for accounting purposes. Management is also required to
make certain assessments in connection with the application of the consolidated
accounting policies. Please see note 4 for areas that contain a high degree of
asssessments, that are complex or such areas where assumptions and estimates
are of significant importance for the consolidated accounts statements.
The Parent Company applies RFR 2 Accounting for Legal Entities and the Swedish
Annual Accounts Act. Under RFR 2, the Parent Company is required to apply all
EU-adopted IFRS and interpretations in the interim report for the legal entity insofar
as this is possible under the Swedish Annual Accounts Act, the Pension Obligations
Vesting Act and with regard to the relationship between accounting and taxation.
Preparing statements in compliance with RFR 2 requires the use of certain
significant estimates for accounting purposes. The management team is also
required to make certain assessments in connection with application of the Parent
Company’s accounting policies. The areas that entail a high degree of assessment,
which are complex or of such a nature that assumptions and estimates are material
to the annual report, are specified in note 4.
The Parent Company applies different accounting policies to the Group in the
cases stated below:

Layout.
The income statement and balance sheet are compliant with the layout stipulated
in the Swedish Annual Accounts Act. In addition, this entails a difference in
nomenclature, compared to the consolidated statements, primarily regarding
financial income and costs and shareholders' equity.

Shares in Group companies.
Shares in subsidiaries are recognized as the acquisition cost less any impairment.
The acquisition cost includes any costs related to the acquisition and any
additional purchase considerations.
A calculation of the recoverable amount is undertaken in the event of an indicator
of impairment of shares in a Group company. Should the recoverable amount be
lower than the carrying amount, impairment is made. Impairments are recognized
in “Profit from shares in Group companies”.
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Financial instruments.
IFRS 9 is not applied in the parent company and financial instruments are valued
at cost value. Financial assets acquired for short-term holding will in subsequent
periods be recognized at the lower of acquisition cost and market value.
The convertible debt instruments are valued at accrued acquisition cost

Development expenses fund.
The parent company allocates the same amount to the fund for development
expenses as are capitalized such as intangible non current assets developed by
the company. The development fund is then reduced when the capitalized asset
is depreciated, written down or divested.

Appropriations.
Group contributions are recognized as appropriations.

1.1.1 New and amended IFRS standards and interpretations
that are applied by the group.
The following standards have been applied by the group for the first time for the
financial year starting 1 January 2019:
IFRS 16 replaced IAS 17 as of 1 January 2019. In principle, implementation of
the standard means that all leases are reported on the lessee balance sheet,
as operating and finance leases are no longer treated differently. According to
the new standard, an asset (the right to use a leased asset) and a financial liability
concerning the liability to pay lease charges, are to be reported. The balance sheet
has accordingly been expanded with lines for non current right of use tangible
assets and interest bearing lease liabilities. Right of use assets are depreciated
during the leasing period, lease payments are divided into an interest element and
an amortization element. The effects on the balance sheet are higher non current
assets and financial liabilities. The effects on the income statement are a higher
EBITDA, and also a higher EBIT. Profit/loss after financial items is negatively
affected. Cash flow from operating activities increases and cash flow from
financing activities decreases.
The group has chosen to apply the simplification rules for the transition meaning
that short term leases and leases for which the underlying asset has a lesser value
are not reported as part of the right of use asset and lease liability on the balance
sheet. Payments attributable to these leases will instead be reported as a linear cost
over the lease term. A lessee can, as a practical solution, choose to report leases for
which the lease term ends within 12 months counted from the first applicable date
as a short term lease. The group has one lease for premises that expires in 2019
and that will not be extended, and will apply this practical solution and as such,
not report the lease as part of lease liabilities and a right of use asset. In addition
to this premises lease, the group has a small number of leases that are assessed as
immaterial. When Camanio AB was acquired in the fourth quarter 2019, this also
included a lease for Camanio AB. This has been reported as per IFRS 16.

1.1.2 New standards, amendments and interpretations of
existing standards that have not yet come into force and have
not been applied in advance by the group.
A number of new standards and interpretations have come into force for financial
years starting after 1 January 2019 and have not been applied in the preparation
of this financial report. These new standards and interpretations are not expected
to have a material effect on the group’s financial statements for current or future
periods and nor on future transactions.
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1.2. Consolidated financial statements.
1.2.2. Basic accounting policies Subsidiaries.
Subsidiaries are all companies over which the Group has a controlling influence.
The group controls a company when it is exposed to or has the right to a variable
return on its holding in the company and has the possibility of influencing the
regurn via its influence on the company. Subsidiary companies are included in the
consolidated statements from the date the controlling interest is transferred to the
group. They are excluded from the consolidated financial statements as of the date
on which the controlling influence ceases.
The purchase method is used for reporting the Group’s business combinations.
The purchase price for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the
transferred assets, the liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the
acquired company, and the shares issued by the Group. The purchase price also
includes the fair value of all the liabilities that result from a contingent purchase
price agreement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values on the acquisition date.
For each acquisition (i.e. acquisition by acquisition) the Group determines whether
its holdings in the acquired company that do not confer control are reported at
fair value or as their proportional share of the recognized value of the acquired
company’s identifiable net assets
Intra-Group transactions, balance sheet items, and revenue and expenses from
transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Gains and losses resulting
from intra-Group transactions that are recognized in assets are also eliminated.
Where applicable, the accounting policies of subsidiaries have been amended
to guarantee a consistent application of the Group’s principles.

Associated companies.
Associated companies are all companies where the group has a significant but
not controlling influence, which as a rule applies for shareholdings of between
20 and 50% of the voting rights. Holdings in associated companies are recognized
according to the equity method. In accordance with the equity method, holdings in
associated companies are initially recognized at cost in the consolidated balance
sheet. The carrying amount is subsequently increased or decreased to reflect the
Group’s share of the profit from its associated companies after the acquisition
date. The Group’s share of profit is included in consolidated profit. Dividends from
associated companies are recognized as a reduction in the carrying amount of
the investment.
When the group's share of losses in an associated company is equal to or exceeds
the holding in this associated company (including all non current claims that in
reality consist of a part of the group’s net investment in this associated company),
the group reports no additional losses provided the group has not provided
obligations or has made payments on behalf of the associated company.
Unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and its associated company
are eliminated in relation to the Group’s holding in the associated company.
Unrealized losses are also eliminated, unless the transaction constitutes an
indication of an impairment requirement in the transferred asset. The accounting
policies for associated companies have been adjusted, where applicable, to ensure
consistency with the Group’s accounting policies.
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1.3. Translation of foreign currency.
Working currency and reporting currency.
The different units of the Group, where such exist, have the local currency as
their working currency, as the local currency has been defined as the currency
used in the primary economic environment in which the unit mainly operates.
The consolidated statements are reported in Swedish kronor (SEK), the parent
company's working currency and the group reporting currency.

Transactions and balance sheet items.
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the working currency at the
exchange rates that apply on the transaction date. Foreign exchange gains and
losses arising from payment of such transactions and upon translation of monetary
assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at closing date rates are recognized in
the statement of comprehensive income.
Foreign exchange gains and losses relating to loans and cash and cash
equivalents are recognized as financial income or financial expenses in the
statement of comprehensive income. All other foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognized in the items “Other operating costs” and “Other operating income”
respectively in the statement of comprehensive income.

1.4. Revenue recognition.
The group only has limited sales of products and services to external customers
today. The group provides services on a limited scale in the form of consultant
services at a fixed price or cost contract. Camanio AB sales consist of products,
services and support contracts for the Camanio AB customer offers. The customer
receives normal benefit when the undertaking is fulfilled and revenue is accordingly
recognized over time at the rate the assignment in accordance with the contract
is performed.

Interest revenue.
Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method.

1.5. Leasing.
The group leases various premises, equipment and vehicles. Lease contracts
are normally signed for fixed periods from one to five years and possibly with
extensions. The terms and conditions are negotiated individually for each
agreement and contain a large number of different terms and conditions.
Leased tangible non current assets were classified as either finance or operating
leases until the end of the 2018 financial year. From 1 January 2019, leases are
recognized as right of use assets and a corresponding liability, the day the leased
asset is at the disposal of the group. Assets and liabilities arising from leases are
initially reported at their present value. Lease liabilities include the present value of
the following lease payments:
• Fixed charges after deductions for possible benefits in association with signing
the lease that is to be obtained
• Amounts that are expected to be paid by the lessee in accordance with the
guaranteed residual value
• the strike price for an option to buy if the group is reasonably certain of
exercising such an opportunity. Lease payments that will be made to reasonably
secure extension options are also included in the valuation of the liability.
Lease payments are discounted by the group’s marginal loan interest. The group
has exposure to possible future increases in variable lease payments based on an
index or interest, that are not included in the lease liability until they come into
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force. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or interest come
into force, the lease liability is revalued against the right of use. Lease payments
are allocated between amortization of the liability and interest.
Assets with right of use are valued at acquisition value and include the following:
• The amount the lease liability was originally valued at
• Lease charges that are paid on or before the start date
• Charges to reinstate the asset to the condition as described in the lease terms
and conditions.
Right of use assets are usually depreciated linearly over the shorter of the usage
period and leasing period. The group applies the exception that allows short term
leases not to be reported as leases with low underlying asset values. These leases
are depreciated linearly.

1.6. Remuneration to employees.
Short-term remuneration of employees.
Liabilities for salaries and remuneration, including non-monetary benefits and paid
leave, which are expected to be settled within 12 months of the end of the financial
year, are recognized as current liabilities at the undiscounted amount expected to
be paid when the liabilities are settled. The expense is recognized as the services
are rendered by the employees. The liabilities are recognized as an obligation
regarding remuneration to employees in the statement of financial position.

Remuneration after concluded employment.
The Group companies only have defined contribution pension plans. A defined
contribution pension plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate legal entity. The Group has no legal or informal
obligations to pay further contributions if this legal entity does not have sufficient
assets to pay all employee benefits associated with the employees’ service in
current or prior periods. The contributions are recognized as a cost in the profit and
loss for the year at the rate they are earned by employees providing service to the
company during the period.

1.7. Current and deferred income tax.
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is reported
in the income statement, except when the tax refers to items reported in other
comprehensive income or directly in shareholders’ equity. In such cases, the tax
is also reported in other comprehensive income and equity respectively
Current tax is calculated on the taxable profit/loss for the period at the applicable
tax rate. The current tax expense is calculated on the basis of the tax regulations
enacted or substantively enacted on the balance sheet date in the countries where
the Parent Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management regularly evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation. When
deemed appropriate, provisions are made for amounts expected to be paid to the
tax authorities.
Deferred tax is reported on all temporary differences that arise between the taxable
value of assets and liabilities and their reported values in the consolidated account
statements. Nor is deferred tax recognized if it arises as a result of a transaction
that constitutes the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a business
acquisition that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor
the taxable profit. Deferred tax is calculated applying tax rates (and legislation)
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determined or announced on the balance sheet date and which are expected
to apply when the deferred tax assets in question are realized or the deferred
tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax claims are recognized in the extent there is likely to be future
taxable surpluses available, against which temporary differences can be
utilized. See note 10 for group tax claims. For precautionary purposes, these
are not recognized as assets in the balance sheet, as there is uncertainty over
the time frame in which they may be expected to be used.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legal right to offset
current tax assets and tax liabilities, and when the deferred tax assets and tax
liabilities relate to taxes charged by the same tax authority and relate to either
the same tax subject or a different tax subject and there is an intention to
settle the balances through net payments.

1.8. Intangible assets.
Capitalized expenditure for development work.
Development costs that are directly attributable to the development of Actiste
and other development costs related to Actiste or otherwise, are recognized as
intangible assets when the following criteria are met:
• it is technically feasible to complete the products so that they are ready
for use;
• it is technically feasible to complete them so that they will be available
for use or for sale;
• the conditions are in place to use or sell them;
• it can be shown they will generate probable future financial benefits,
and that adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete
the development and to use or sell them are available, and
• the expenditure attributable to them during their development can be
reliably measured.
Directly attributable costs that are capitalized as part of the development work
for Actiste include costs for employees and fees for external consultants.
Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognized
as an expense as they are incurred. Development costs that have been
previously expensed are not capitalized in subsequent periods.
Capitalized development expenditure is recognized as intangible assets and
amortization takes place from the time when the asset is ready to be used.
The need for the impairment of development expenses is tested on the basis of
future benefit. Sensitivity analyses are carried out of the calculation of value in
use in conjunction with impairment testing. For further information, please see
note 11.
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Patents.
Patents that have been acquired separately are recognized at the acquisition cost.
Patents carry a fixed useful life and are recognized at the acquisition cost less
accumulated amortization and impairment. Patents are amortized from the time
that they start to be used.

Trademarks.
Trademarks that have been acquired separately are recognized at the acquisition
cost. Trademarks are assumed to have a fixed useful life and are recognized at the
acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation.
The useful lives for the Group’s intangible assets are assessed on a case by case
basis, based on their estimated life;
primarily within the time periods given below.
Capitalized expenditure for development work 5–15 years
Patents
10–20 years
Trademarks
10 years

1.9. Property, plant and equipment.
Property, plant and equipment is recognized at cost less accumulated depreciation
as well as any impairment loss. The acquisition cost includes costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the asset and to put it in place and in the right
condition for the use for which it was acquired.
Additional expenses are added to the carrying amount of the asset or recognized
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that the future
economic benefits associated with the asset will accrue to the Group and the
cost of the asset can be reliably measured. The carrying amount of a replaced
part is removed from the statement of financial position. All other forms of repairs
and maintenance are recognized as expenses in the statement of comprehensive
income in the period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation is carried out on a straight-line basis over the estimated period of use,
after deducting the estimated residual value of the asset.
The useful lives are as follows:
Equipment, tools and installations

3 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if necessary,
at the end of each reporting period.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined
by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognized within
“Other operating income” and “Other operating expenses” in the statement of
comprehensive income.
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1.10. Impairments of non-financial assets.
Intangible assets that have an indeterminate usage period or intangible assets
that are not ready for use (capitalized expenditure for development work), are not
depreciated and instead evaluated annually with regard to possible impairment
needs. Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are largely independent cash inﬂows (cash-generating units). In the
case of assets that have been written down earlier, an evaluation is done as of the
balance date whether a reversal should be done.

1.11. Financial instruments – general.
Classification.
All financial instruments are reported at fair value on the first reporting occasion.
After the first reporting occasion, financial assets are valued either at accrued
acquisition value, fair value via the income statement or fair value via other
comprehensive income. Which category a financial asset is classified in is dictated
by the company's business model partly by which contract related cash flow the
company will receive from the financial asset.
The group classifies its financial assets and liabilities in the category accrued
acquisition value.

Financial assets at accrued acquisition value.
Assets that are held for the purpose of drawing contractual cash flow and where
such cash flow only comprises capital sums and interest are valued at accrued
acquisition value. The reported value of these assets is adjusted for possible
expected credit losses that are reported (see impairment below). Interest income
from these financial assets are reported using the effective interest method and
included in financial income. Group financial assets that are valued at accrued
acquisition value consist of items: non current receivables, accounts receivable
and cash and cash equivalents.

Accounts receivable.
Accounts receivable are financial instruments that consist of amounts due from
customers for goods and services sold as part of operating activities. If payment
is expected within 12 months, they are classified as current assets If not, they are
recognized as non current assets.

Other receivables.
In addition to accounts receivables, there are also other receivables that are
reported at accrued acquisition value. Such receivables are classified as current
receivables if they fall due for payment within 12 months from the time of
reporting, otherwise they are classified as non current receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents.
Cash and cash equivalents include, both in the statement of financial position
and in the statement of cash flow, cash in hand and bank deposits.
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Financial liabilities at accrued acquisition value.
Group financial liabilities are valued on the first reporting occasion at accrued
acquisition value applying the effective interest method. Financial liabilities are
classified as current liabilities if they fall due for payment within 12 months from
the time of reporting, otherwise they are classified as non current liabilities. Group
financial liabilities that are valued at accrued acquisition value consist of items:
accounts payable, other liabilities and financial loan liabilities (the debt part of
convertible debt instruments).

Borrowing.
Borrowing is recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Borrowing
is subsequently recognized at accrued acquisition value and any difference
between the amount received (net of transaction costs) and the amount repayable
is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income over the term of the loan
by applying the effective interest method.
This liability is classified as a current liability in the statement of financial position
unless the Group has an unconditional right to postpone payment of the debt for
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Borrowing is removed from the statement of financial position when obligations
have been settled, annulled or has otherwise expired. The difference between
the reported value for a financial liability (or part of a financial liability) that
has beenextinguished or transferred to another party and the payment that has
been made, including transferred assets that are not cash or liabilities assumed,
are recognized in the profit/loss for the period.

Convertible debt instruments.
The combined financial instruments issued by the group comprise convertible debt
instruments that the holder can have converted into shares and where the number
of shares to be issued does not vary with changes in the fair value of the shares.
The fair value of the liability increment of a convertible debt instrument is calculated
using a discount interest rate that comprises the market interest rate of a debt with
the same terms but without the right to be converted into shares. The amount is
recognized as a liability at accrued acquisition value until the liability is converted
or lapses. The right to convert is initially recognized as the difference between
fair value for the entire combined financial instrument and the fair value of the
liability element. This is recognized in shareholders' equity net of tax. Any directly
attributable transaction costs are allocated to the respective liability and
shareholders’ equity components in proportion with their initial carrying amounts.

Accounts payable.
Accounts payable are financial instruments and relate to obligations to pay for
goods and services acquired in operating activities from suppliers. If payment is
expected to be made within 12 months, they are classified as current liabilities,
if not they are recognized as non current liabilities.

1.11.1 Impairment of financial assets.
The group anticipates future expected credit losses that are linked to assets
recognized at accrued acquisition value. The group reports a credit provision for
such anticipated credit losses on each reporting date. For accounts receivable, the
group applies the simplified approach for credit provisions, i.e. the provision should
correspond to the anticipated loss over the entire length of the account receivable.
To measure the anticipated credit losses, accounts receivable are grouped based
on allocated credit risk characteristics and days overdue. The anticipated credit
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loss levels are based on the loss history of customers. Historic losses are adjusted
to take into account current and future oriented information on macro economic
factors that can affect customers’ possibilities of paying the claim. The historic loss
level is adjusted based on anticipated changes in these factors.

c. Offsetting financial instruments.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and recognized net in the statement of
financial position, only when there is a legal right to offset the recognized amounts
and the intention is to settle them as a net amount or simultaneously realize the
asset and settle the liability.

1.12. Inventories.
Inventories are recognized at the lower of acquisition cost and net realizable value,
whereby the FIFO principle is applied. The net realizable value is the estimated
selling price in the ongoing course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses. The acquisition cost for work in progress comprises materials, direct
wages and other direct expenses. Borrowing costs are not included.

1.13. Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as shareholders’ equity. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares are recognized, net after
tax, in shareholders’ equity as a deduction from the issue proceeds.

1.14. Borrowing expenses.
Borrowing costs are recognized as expenses in the period in which they are
incurred. The Group does not have any qualifying assets that would require
borrowing expenses to be capitalized, i.e. assets that necessarily take a significant
amount of time to complete for their intended use or sale.

1.15. Cash flow statement.
The cash flow statement is prepared using the indirect method. The recognized cash
flow only comprises transactions which result in payment inflows and outflows.

1.16. Earnings per share.
Earnings per share before dilution.
Earnings per share before dilution is calculated by dividing:
profit attributable to the Parent Company’s shareholders
with a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
period, adjusted for the bonus issue element of shares issued during the year
and excluding share buy backs held in treasury by the Parent Company.

Earnings per share after dilution.
When calculating earnings per share after dilution, amounts used for calculating
earnings per share before dilution are adjusted by taking into account:
the effect, after tax, of dividends and interest costs on potential shares, and the
weighted average of the additional shares that would have been outstanding on
conversion of all potential shares.
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Note 2. General information.
Brighter AB (publ) co reg no 556736-8591 is a company that develops
technological and digital medical devices and has its registered office in
Stockholm. Since 2007 the Company has applied for and received several patents
and registered designs for the integration of sampling, the measurement of
biomarkers and the injection of liquid medicines into one single unit, for example.
In 2019 the company continued work on developing its second generation of
assistive devices for self-treatment with insulin for diabetics – Actiste® and The
Benefit Loop™ – the platform for data driven care. Brighter AB has a wholly owned
subsidiary, Brighter One AB, the only function of which is to hold options as part
of the external financing of the Company and as part of the incentive scheme.
Brighter AB has a subsidiary company in the UAE called Brighter Software Trading
L.L.C. The company is co-owned with AFAQ, but is 100% controlled by Brighter AB.
Until the fourth quarter 2019, the group had an associated company, Camanio
Care AB, that was listed on Spotlight. Brighter had a 29.8% shareholding as of 30
September 2019. In October 2019, Brighter acquired the Camanio Care subsidiary
company Camanio AB, to which all operations in Camanio Care were transferred.
Camanio AB has three wholly owned subsidiaries; Vital integration of Scandinavia
AB, Camanio Care Inc. and Bestic AB.
Brighter AB is listed on the NASDAQ First North Growth Market (BRIG). Brighter’s
Certified Adviser on the Nasdaq First North is Eminova Fondkommission AB.
Tel: +46 (0)8 684 211 00 Email: info@eminova.se.
For more information: www.brighter.se
The figures in the annual report are reported in KSEK unless otherwise stated.
The balance sheet and income statements will be presented at the Annual General
Meeting on 10 June 2020.
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Note 3. Important estimates and
assumptions for accounting purposes.
Estimate and assumptions are evaluated regularly based on historical experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events which may be deemed
reasonable under prevailing circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions about the future. The estimates for
accounting purposes that result from these will, by definition, rarely match the
actual outcome. The estimates and assumptions that give rise to a material risk of
significant adjustments of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities during the
following financial year are outlined below.

Capitalized expenditure for development work.
The value of capitalized expenditure for development work is measured
continuously based on future benefit. The future benefit is assessed based
on known market conditions concerning, for instance, the growth of diabetes
globally having the potential to be extensive. Actiste is about to start its
commercialization phase and in conjunction with this, the development costs will
start to be amortized/depreciated continually based on the estimated useful life.
The amortization period will start once Actiste is complete. No depreciation was
carried out in 2018. In 2019, depreciation was started from the fourth quarter.
The asset Actiste will be depreciated over eight years.

Tax assets.
As of December 31, 2019, the group had 129.7 MSEK in accumulated losses.
No capitalization of loss deductions as a claim in the balance sheet is done as
it is unclear when the group will be able to utilize such a claim. Taxes are reported
in more detail in note 10.

Note 4. Other operating expenses and
other operating income.
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES KSEK
Impairment of inventory
Loss disposal of tangible assets
Exchange rate losses
TOTAL
OTHER OPERATING INCOME KSEK
Contributions received
Insurance claim
Services carried out for Camanio Care
Exchange rate gain
Other operating income
TOTAL

2019

2018

–7,286

0

–95

0

–555

–566

–7,935

–566

2019

2018

450

0

14

0

0

672

365

345

57

35

886

1,052
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Note 5. Leases.
Right of use assets

12/31/2019

12/31/2018

Properties

1,292

0

Equipment

863

Vehicles

150

0

2,306

0

1,044

0

977

0

2,021

0

Total
Lease liabilities
Non current
Current
Total

In the previous year, only lease assets and lease liabilities related to finance leases
were reported in accordance with IAS 17 Leases. The assets were reported as part of
tangible non current assets and liabilities as part of group borrowings.
Depreciation of rights of use

2019

2018

Properties

138

0

Equipment

111

Vehicles
Total

15

0

264

0

In 2019, the group has three leased vehicles, plus office premises that consist of the
Camanio offices in Nacka, Sweden. In addition, the group leases equipment that in
turn, is leased to end customers. Brighter has given notice to vacate its premises on
Norgegatan, Kista, and the company will relocate to temporary premises in early 2020.
In 2017 new contracts were signed for two leased cars. These contracts run for three
years and will end in July in 2020.

Note 6. Remuneration to employees, staff,
the Board of Directors and transactions
with affiliated parties.
SALARIES AND REMUNERATION TO EMPLOYEES SEK

2019

2018

16,047,852

7,612,184

Social security costs

4,878,170

2,391,748

Pension costs - defined contribution plans

1,833,012

1,222,467

22,759,033

11,226,399

2019

2018

Women

17

8

Men

22

9

Average number of employees

39

17

Salaries and other remuneration

TOTAL
SALARIES AND REMUNERATION TO EMPLOYEES NO.
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GENDER BALANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OTHER SENIOR EXECUTIVES IN THE GROUP (as of balance sheet date)
2019

2018

Total

Of
which,
men

Total

Of
which,
men

Board members

6

3

6

2

Other senior executives*

7

3

6

2

CEO

1

1

1

1

14

7

13

5

*Other senior executives means the Head of Production, Head of People & Culture,
CFO, CCMO, HDP, QA-RA Manager and Head of Logistics. The period of notice is
three months for senior executives who are employees. No severance is payable
SALARIES, REMUNERATION AND FEES TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR EXECUTIVES
Basic salary,
board fees Invoiced fees

Pension
costs

Total

0

0

50,129

125,268

0

0

125,268

95,782

20,000

0

115,782

112,492

0

0

112,492

Member of the Board of Directors, Afsaneh Ghatan Bauer

95,782

500,000

0

595,782

Member of the Board of Directors, Petra Kaur Ljungman

16,948

0

0

16,948

Member of the Board of Directors, Jan Stålemark

45,784

0

0

45,784

2018 SEK
Chair of the Board of Directors, Gert Westergren
Chair of the Board, Barbro Fridén
Member of the Board of Directors, Lars Flening
Member of the Board of Directors, Sara Murby Forste

Member of the Board of Directors, Catarina Ihre

50,129

62,634

0

0

62,634

CEO, Truls Sjöstedt

1,189,536

0

287,677

1,477,213

Other senior executives (5)

3,396,939

1,920,000

888,196

6,205,135

TOTAL

5,191,294

2,440 000

1,175,873

8,807,167

Invoiced fees for 2018 relate to legal services and cost for trademark registration and regulatory services related to
product development.
2019 SEK

Basic salary,
board fees Invoiced fees

Pension
costs

Total

0

217,096

1,530,529

Chair of the Board, Truls Sjöstedt

1,313,433

Chair of the Board, Barbro Fridén

71,598

0

0

71,598

Director Lars Flening

99,996

30,000

0

129,996

Director Sara Murby Forste

35,798

0

0

35,798

Director Afsaneh Ghatan Bauer

35,798

173,530

0

209,328

Director Jan Stålemark

169,994

212,550

0

382,544

Director Catarina Ihre

120,000

0

0

120,000

Director Tove Andersson

64,632

0

0

64,632

Director Emanuel Lipschütz

64,632

0

0

64,632

CEO Henrik Norström

1,462 286

0

299,407

1,761,693

Other senior executives (5)

2,280,207

2,608,689

555,138

5,444,034

TOTAL

5,718,374

3,024,769

1,071,641

9,814,784

In May 2019, Truls Sjöstedt resigned as CEO and was appointed Chair of the Board and Henrik Norström was promoted
from COO to CEO. The amounts stated above are linked to these persons not their roles. Invoiced fees concern costs
for trademark registration, regulatory services and services related to product development and work concerning
organizational development.
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Note 7. Auditor’s remuneration.
PWC SEK
Auditing services
Other statutory services
Tax advice
Other services
TOTAL

2019

2018

680,775

263,603

50,740

135,000

0

0

783,064

689,166

1,514,579

1,087,769

Note 8. Financial income and costs.
KSEK

2019

2018

Interest income

1,003

1,520

Capital gain divestment of associated
company

545

Total financial income

1,548

1,520

Interest costs

–6,988

–3,812

Cost of capital

–4,436

–1,200

0

–985

Total financial costs

–11,423

–5,996

Net financial items

–9,875

–4,475

2019

2018

–83,446

–50,974

Interest costs, convertible loans

Note 9. Earnings per share.
KSEK
Profit/loss for the period attributable to parent
company shareholders.
Number of shares at end of period before
dilution
Number of shares at end of period after dilution
Weighted average number of shares before
dilution

60

96,111,204

74,444,844

119,287,285

97,611,895

84,275 657

68,883,241

Earnings per share as a weighted average
before dilution

–0.99

–0.74

Earnings per share (SEK) as a weighted
average after dilution

–0.99

–0.74
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Note 10. Reconciliation Tax costs for the year.
Group
KSEK
Recognized profit/loss before tax

Parent company

2019

2018

2019

2018

–89,685

–53,080

–83,446

–50,974

Non deductible costs

600

3,171

–6

3,171

Tex effect non deductible cost

128

679

–1

679

–19,064

–10,681

–17,859

–10,230

0

0

0

0

Effect of loss deductions for which
deferred tax claim is not recognized
Recognized tax cost for the year

Deductions for accumulated losses as of 31 Dec 2019 were 148 MSEK for the group
and 147 MSEK for the parent company.

Note 11. Intangible non current assets.
Parent company and group.
KSEK
Opening acquisition value 2018
Acquisitions
Closing acquisition values 2018
Opening depreciation 2018
Depreciation

Trademarks

Patents

Development
costs

Goodwill

Total

349

3,836

90,281

0

94,466

0

1150

25,021

0

26,171

349

4,986

115,302

0

120,637

–101

–617

–16,954

0

–17,672

–36

0

0

0

–36

–137

–617

–16,954

0

–17,708

Closing book value 2018

212

4,369

98,348

0

102,929

Opening acquisition value 2019

349

4,986

115,302

0

120,637

Acquisitions

174

1,341

52,450

10,005

63,969

Closing acquisition values 2019

523

6,327

167,751

10,005

184,606

–137

–617

–16,954

0

–17,708

Closing depreciation 2018

Opening depreciation 2019
Depreciation
Closing depreciation 2019
Closing book value 2019

–32

–22

–8,167

0

–8,221

–169

–639

–25,121

0

–25,929

353

5,688

142,631

10,005

158,677

The group has a very small proportion of development costs that are not deducted as operating costs. The asset that
has not been depreciated has not yet been taken into service. Book value that has not been depreciated amounts to
11.1 MSEK. As this is attributable to recent new development work on the next generation Actiste plus other product
development, and it is a small amount, there is no need to impairment test this as yet.
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Note 12. Property, plant and equipment.
Parent company and group.
Construction in
progress

Office
equipment

Asset with
right of use

Total

Opening acquisition value 2018

4,527

907

0

5,434

Acquisitions

3,925

0

0

3,925

Accumulated acquisition values 2018

8,452

907

0

9,359

Opening depreciation 2018

0

–695

0

–695

Depreciation

0

–127

0

–127

Closing depreciation 2018

0

–822

0

–822

Closing book value 2018

8,452

84

0

8,536

Opening acquisition value 2019

8,452

907

0

9,359

Acquisitions

4,379

1,091

2,570

8,040

12,831

1,998

2,570

17,399

Opening depreciation 2019

0

–822

0

–822

Depreciation

0

157

–264

–107

Closing depreciation 2019

0

–665

–264

–929

12,831

1,332

2,306

16,470

KSEK

Accumulated acquisition values 2019

Closing book value 2019

Note 13. Inventories.
KSEK

2019

2018

Finished products are recognized at cost value

6,831

7,070

TOTAL

6,831

7,070

During the year, impairments of inventory that is past the best before date,
were done in the sum of 7.3 MSEK (0). The inventory comprises Actiste devices
and consumables for use by Actiste, i.e. lancets and test strips, plus inventory
for Camanio’s products Bike-Around, Giraff etc.
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Note 14. Accounts receivable.
Parent company.
KSEK

31 Dec 2019

31 Dec 2018

Accounts receivable from associated companies

0

200

Provision for doubtful receivables

0

0

TOTAL

0

200

31 Dec 2019

31 Dec 2018

701

0

Accounts receivable from associated companies

0

200

Provision for doubtful receivables

0

0

701

200

Group.
KSEK
Accounts receivable

TOTAL

As of 31 December 2019, accounts receivable amounting to 400 KSEK (180) were
overdue, but without any write down considered necessary. There were no provisions
for customer losses in 2018 or 2019.
The age analysis of these accounts receivable can be found below.
Group
>30 days
>60 days
TOTAL

31 Dec 2019

31 Dec 2018

385

0

15

180

400

180

Note 15. Other current receivables.
Group.
KSEK
Receivables Sanmina work in progress
Receivable convertible tranche 9
Other current receivables
TOTAL

31 Dec 2019

31 Dec 2018

35,749

14,911

0

5,000

7,946

5,705

43,695

25,615
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Note 16. Financial instruments by
category.
2018 FINANCIAL ASSETS KSEK

Loan receivables and
accounts receivable

Financial assets were valued at fair value via
income statement

964

Assets recognized at accrued acquisition cost
Accounts receivable

200

Loan claim associated companies

12,263

Cash and cash equivalents

9,031

TOTAL
2019 FINANCIAL ASSETS KSEK

22,458
Loan receivables and
accounts receivable

Financial assets were valued at fair value through
income statement

9,930

Assets recognized at accrued acquisition cost
Accounts receivable

701

Deposit agreement cooperation and rent

1,663

Cash and cash equivalents

9,340

TOTAL
2018 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES KSEK

21,634
Other financial liabilities

Accounts payable

3,960

Current interest-bearing liabilities

42,000

Convertible debt instruments

9,893

TOTAL
2019 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES KSEK

55,853
Other financial liabilities

Non current interest-bearing liabilities

1,581

Accounts payable

13,685

Current interest-bearing liabilities

10,446

TOTAL

25,712

Note 17. Prepaid costs and accrued
income
Group.

64

KSEK

2019

2018

Prepaid inventories

2025

913

Accrued interest income

1380

436

Other interim claims

1,581

378

TOTAL

4,986

1,727
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Note 18. Cash and cash equivalents.
Cash and cash equivalents consist of capital in bank account in Swedish krona.

Note 19. Financial risk management.
Foreign exchange risks related to transaction and
translation exposure.
Foreign exchange risk resides in exposure to exchange rate fluctuations that impact
the company's financial performance and shareholders’ equity. There is exposure
to foreign exchange from cash flows in a different currency to the Company’s
working currency, i.e. Swedish krona (transaction exposure). At the moment the
group’s currency exposure relates primarily to purchases from suppliers in EUR,
USD and AED. Negative exchange rate fluctuations in EUR, USD or AED could
therefore have an impact on the company’s earning capacity, performance and
financial position.

Credit risk.
When Brighter sells its products to its customers, there is a risk that it will not
receive payment. Such credit risks can result in a negative affect on the company's
business activities, profit and financial position. Brighter intends to cover such risks
as far as possible using bank guarantees or insurance solutions.

Liquidity risk.
A liquidity risk is the risk that Brighter will not be able to fulfill its financial
obligations or will be less able to conduct its operations effectively due to
a shortage of cash and cash equivalents. Brighter’s liquidity is affected, inter alia,
by payment terms and conditions for credit to customers and credit from suppliers.
This can also be affected by the ability to raise external financing through a new
issue or loan, as well as the ability to finance customer agreements and customer
orders. It cannot be ruled out that the company will have a shortage of cash
and cash equivalents as a result of unknown events, which in turn could have an
adverse impact on the company’s operations, performance and financial position.
2018 CONTRACTUAL MATURITY
FOR FINANCIAL LIABILITIES KSEK
Accounts payable

Less than
6 months
3,960

6–12
months
0

More than
12 months
0

Total contractual
cash flows

Carrying amount

3,960

3,960

Borrowing

56,870

0

0

56,870

55,163

TOTAL

60,830

0

0

60,830

59,123

Total contractual
cash flows

Carrying amount

13,685

13,685

2019 CONTRACTUAL MATURITY
FOR FINANCIAL LIABILITIES KSEK
Accounts payable
Lease liabilities

Less than
6 months

6–12
months

More than
12 months

13,685

0

0

483

494

1,044

2,216

2,021

Borrowing

10,007

0

0

10,007

10,007

TOTAL

24,174

494

1,044

25,907

25,712
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Note 20. Changes in share capital.
Change
Subscription of
options

Changed
amount

Registration
date

Number of
outstanding
shares

4,214.55

4,805,560.20

12/6/2019

96,111,204

New share issue

131,471.50

4,801,345.65

12/5/2019

96,026,913

New share issue

79,887.20

4,669,874.15

10/29/2019

93,397,483

Subscription of
options

5,773.40

4,589,986.95

10/9/2019

91,799,739

New share issue

27,057.40

4,584,213.55

10/8/2019

91,684,271

New share issue

32,784.35

4,557,156.15

9/25/2019

91,143,123

New share issue

32,959.50

4,524,371.80

9/24/2019

90,487,436

Conversion

14,084.50

4,491,412.30

9/23/2019

89,828,246

New share issue

174,717.75

4,477,327.80

9/19/2019

89,546,556

New share issue

16,579.00

4,302,610.05

9/11/2019

86,052,201

New share issue

13,847.30

4,286,031.05

8/9/2019

85,720,621

New share issue

60,643.65

4,272,183.75

7/29/2019

85,443,675

8,333.30

4,211,540.10

7/29/2019

84,230,802

New share issue

26,000.00

4,203,206.80

7/25/2019

84,064,136

New share issue

29,047.60

4,177,206.80

7/15/2019

83,544,136

New share issue

29,602.00

4,148,159.20

7/11/2019

82,963,184

New share issue

Conversion

138,013.80

4,118,557.20

7/3/2019

82,371,144

Subscription of
options

1,223.00

3,980,543.40

6/17/2019

79,610,868

Conversion

6,292.90

3,979,320.40

6/10/2019

79,586,408

Conversion

5,148.70

3,973,027.50

6/10/2019

79,460,550

Conversion

6,097.55

3,967,878.80

5/21/2019

79,357,576

New share issue

62,630.85

3,961,781.25

5/7/2019

79,235,625

New share issue

63,613.20

3,899,150.40

5/7/2019

77,983,008

Conversion

10,080.60

3,835,537.20

4/29/2019

76,710,744

New share issue

60,168.45

3,825,456.60

4/5/2019

76,509,132

Subscription of
options

21,586.50

3,750,322.20

4/2/2019

75,006,444

Conversion

14,965.95

3,765,288.15

4/2/2019

75,305,763

Conversion

6,493.50

3,728,735.70

1/18/2019

Opening balance 2019
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Total after
change

3,722,242.20
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74,574,714
74,444,844

Note 21. Shares and share ownership.
Parent company and group.
The share capital in Brighter AB consists of 96,111 204 shares. All shares are of
the same class, entitled to one vote per share and entitled to the same share in
the Company’s assets and profit. The quotient value of the share is 0.05 SEK per
share. All shares are fully paid and no shares are reserved for transfer. No shares
are held by the company itself or its subsidiaries. The company has approximately
10,000 registered shareholders (including trustees).
Name

Number of
shares

Voting share

11,950,735

13.12%

1

Insurance Company – Avanza Pension

2

Truls Sjöstedt

6,356,295

6.98%

3

Ålandsbanken on behalf of the owner

2,941,608

3.23%

4

Ålandsbanken AB, W8IMY

1,860,563

2.04%

5

Jonas Metzger

1,173,556

1.29%

6

Minh Nguyen

1,080,050

1.19%

7

Swedbank Försäkring

1,050,787

1.15%

8

Robert Mellin

953,032

1.05%

9

Emanuel Lipschütz

946,287

1.04%

10

Henrik Norström

905,461

0.99%

29,218,374

32.07%

Other owners:

61,892,830

67.93%

Total number of outstanding shares
as of 31 Dec 2019:

91,111,204

Brighter has issued warrants as part of the financing by L1 Capital. Warrants have
also been issued to key personnel, acquisitions have then been at the corresponding
market value. On 31 December 2018 there were 22,159,978 warrants issued and
subscribed that had not been exercised to subscribe for shares. An option confers
the right to subscribe for one new share at a specific share price on a specific
subscription time.
Number of
outstanding
options
subscribed

Subscription
price

Subscription period

Share warrants in series TO3

2.00 SEK*

25 Apr 2017 – 24 Apr 2020

4,773,232

Share warrants in series TO4

2.00 SEK*

8 Sept 2017 – 8 Sept 2020

12,288,797

Share warrants in series TO5

6.40 SEK*

31 May 2019 – 30 Sept 2019

3,922,052

Warrants Series I 2017/2020

22.62 SEK

31 May 2020 – 30 Sept 2020

496,000

Warrants Series II 2017/2020

22.62 SEK

31 May 2020 – 30 Sept 2020

1,606,000

Warrants Series I 2018/2021

26.63 SEK

5 June 2019 – 4 June 2023

50,000

Warrants Series II 2018/2021

26.63 SEK

5 June 2019 – 4 June 2023

40,000

Share warrants

Total number of outstanding options as of 12/31/2019:

23,176,081

*The subscription price after recalculation in association with the new share issue
that closed in January 2020.
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Holders of warrants

TO3

TO4

TO5

Number of
outstanding subscribed*

2017/2020 2019/2021
series I & II series I & II

Truls Sjöstedt

Board of
Directors

0

623,141

93,962

300,000

0

1,017,103

Lars Flening

Board of
Directors

0

14,466

3,669

0

0

18,135

Catarina Ihre

Board of
Directors

0

0

95

0

50,000

50,095

Emanuel Lipschütz

Board of
Directors

344,145

56,388

51,174

0

0

451,707

Tove Andersson

Board of
Directors

0

0

277

0

0

277

Jan Stålemark

Board of
Directors

0

0

1,632

124,000

0

125,632

Henrik Norström

CEO

0

55,065

27,435

450,000

0

532,500

Åsa Hallin Dahlberg

Management

0

390

539

100,000

0

100,929

Petra Kaur Ljungman

Management

1,051

3,874

1,025

174,000

0

179,950

Ann Zetterberg Littorin Management

0

2,380

909

400,000

0

403,289

Nadezda Ershova

0

1,524

576

0

0

2,100

Other

Management

4,428,036 11,531,569

3,740,759

554,000

40,000

20,294,364

4,773,232 12,288,797

3,922,052

2,102,000

90,000

23,176,081

* At the end of the year, there were also holdings of subscription rights that had been allocated to shareholders
in association with the current new issue. These are not included in the table above.

Note 22. Acquisitions.
Camanio AB.
The acquisition of all Camanio AB shares was completed on 14 October. Before
the acquisition, Camanio AB had acquired all the assets in Camanio Care AB.
The acquisition of Camanio AB was done via stock in Brighter AB to a value of 17 MSEK.
The number of shares in the non-cash issue was set at 1,597,744 shares at a price
of 10.64 SEK/share, determined via the daily volume weighted average price on the
20 days before the completion date, 14 October. No transaction costs arose.
Assets and liabilities in this report arising via acquisitions are:
Intangible assets

15,354

Equipment, tools and fixtures

1,275

Inventories

1,759

Current receivables

1,054

Cash and cash equivalents

239

Non current liabilities

–3,072

Current liabilities

–9,624

Total

6,995

Acquisition liquidity

17,000

Residual value / Goodwill

10,005

In 2019, Camanio AB has contributed 2,899 KSEK in revenues and –4,397 KSEK to
profit/loss. If the acquisition has been done on 1 January 2019, this would have
contributed revenues of 5,544 KSEK and a profit/loss of –7,715 KSEK.
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Nectarine Health AB.
The acquisition of all Nectarine Health AB shares was completed on 31 January
2020. Please see the preliminary acquisition analysis below. Before the acquisition,
Nectarine Health AB had acquired all the assets in Pink Nectarine Health AB.
The acquisition of Nectarine Health AB was done via stock in Brighter AB to
a value of 12,965 MSEK. The number of shares in the non cash issue was set at
2,266,682 shares at a price of 5.72 SEK/share, determined via the daily volume
weighted average price on the 20 days before the completion date, 31 December.
No transaction costs arose.
Intangible assets

15,154

Equipment, tools and fixtures

506

Inventories

4,797

Current receivables

313

Deferred tax liability

–3,243

Current liabilities

–4,563

Total

12,965

Acquisition liquidity

12,965

Residual value / Goodwill

0

Note 23. Specification of shares in
associated companies.
Camanio Care AB, corporate registration number 556761-0307, with its registered
office in Stockholm

KSEK

Holding

Share of
voting
rights

Number of
shares owned
by Brighter

Total number
of shares

Share of
earnings
(group)

2018

0.2133

0.2133

4,322,614*

20,261,683*

–4,278

2019

0

0

0

20,261,683

–1,536

*Number of shares in 2018 is stated including the issue that was resolved and paid
for in 2018, but not registered until 2019.

Brighter AB | Annual Report 2019

69

The holding in associated company Camanio Care was divested in October 2019
at the same time as Brighter acquired the Camanio Care subsidiary company
Camanio AB to which Camanio Care operations had been transferred. The transfer
was done at market value, which was also the book value in the parent company,
4.2 MSEK. The market value of Brighter shares in Camanio Care on 31 December
2018 was 6.3 MSEK. Camanio Care was valued in the group according to the
equity investment method The company is registered in Sweden and continues to
trade in Sweden with its operations in Camanio AB.
KSEK

31 Dec 2019

31 Dec 2018

Participation

0

21.33%

Listed price/Fair value in parent company

0

6,268

Book value in group

0

0

31 Dec 2019

31 Dec 2018

Fixed assets

0

16,124

Current assets

0

15,102

Total Assets

0

31,225

Shareholders’ equity

0

3,386

Deferred tax liability

0

1761

Non current liabilities

0

12,636

Current liabilities

0

13,443

Total equity and liabilities

0

31,225

31 Dec 2019

31 Dec 2018

Income

0

14,422

Depreciation

0

–2,943

Interest income

0

0

Interest costs

0

–1443

Deferred tax

0

162

Profit/loss for the period

0

–18,972

Camanio Care

Balance sheet summary - Camanio Care
Group KSEK

Comprehensive income summary Camanio Care Group KSEK

Note 24. Segment information.
Operating segments are reported in a way that corresponds to internal reporting
to the highest executive decision-maker. The Brighter CEO is identified as the
highest executive decision-maker who evaluates the group’s financial position
and performance and takes strategic decisions.
Camanio was acquired in the fourth quarter, a digital welfare technology group
that develops solutions for healthcare and care. With effect from the fourth quarter
2019, the CEO will monitor operations in the Camanio and Brighter business
segments in internal reporting. The CEO primarily uses operating profit/loss
when monitoring group targets.
Camanio develops digital solutions for care, primarily aimed at elderly people
living at home or in care homes. The company offers digital service platforms
within healthcare, robotics, digital tools and smart technology.
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Brighter develops mobile solutions within healthcare that support treatment,
obtain reliable data and enable communication between patients, relatives
and care providers. The offer originally focused on diabetes.

Net revenues.
A minor transaction was effected between the segments invoiced at purchase
price. Revenues from external customers that are reported for the segments to
group management are valued in the same way as in the group income statement.

Segment assets and liabilities.
Segment assets and liabilities are reported in the same way as in the financial
statements. Assets and liabilities are allocated based on the segment business
activities.

Sales from customers per segment.
KSEK

Dec 31 2019

Segment
Brighter

0

Camanio

2,438

Elimination

–40

Total sales from customers

2,398

Profit/loss before tax per segment.
KSEK

Dec 31 2019

Segment
Brighter
Camanio

–85,288
–4,397

Elimination
Total profit/loss before tax

0
–89,685

Assets per segment.
KSEK

Dec 31 2019

Segment
Brighter
Camanio

248,719
32,707

Elimination

–25,763

Total assets

255,663

Liabilities per segment.
KSEK

Dec 31 2019

Segment
Brighter

36,965

Camanio

19,642

Elimination

–8,718

Total liabilities

47,889
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Note 25. Borrowing and net liabilities.
KSEK

31 Dec
2019

31 Dec
2018

1,581

0

Non current
Liabilities related to non current loans
Short-term
Liabilities relating to convertible debt instruments*

0

9,893

Liabilities related to current loans

10,642

42,000

Total borrowing

12,223

51,893

Cash and cash equivalents

9,340

9,031

Net debt interest-bearing liabilities

2,883

42,862

207,649

106,918

1.39%

40.09%

Shareholders’ equity
Debt to equity ratio

*Nominal amount concerning convertible debt instruments was MSEK 11.6 on
31 December 2018.

Convertible debt instruments.
On 25 April 2017, Brighter signed an agreement for an investment of up to
MSEK 100. As of 31 December 2018, this was fully utilized and the final loan
amount was converted in 2019. The transaction has been done via the issuing
of convertibles with associated warrants. The tranches have been signed by
a fund that is managed by L1 Capital Pty Ltd., a fund management company
based in Melbourne, Australia. As of 31 December 2018, a nominal amount
of MSEK 11.6 in convertibles was outstanding. In association with the issue of
convertibles, Brighter has also issued free warrants to existing shareholders,
to protect them against dilution. The shareholders’ warrants have the same
characteristics as those of investors.

Share warrants TO3 & TO4.
For share warrant terms and conditions, please see the Brighter website:
Their maturity is three (3) years. The TO3s and TO4s have a strike price of
2 SEK per share following the recalculation in association with the new share
issue in January 2020.
The remaining exercise periods for the warrants in warrant program TO3 are
as follows:
10 April 2020 to 24 April 2020 inclusive.
The remaining exercise periods for the warrants in warrant program TO4 are
as follows:
25 August 2020 to 8 September 2020 inclusive.

Offset based credit facility.
In May 2019 the company entered into a three-year agreement regarding
a credit facility of up to 15 MEUR with the American investment company
Winance Investment LLC, as a result of which an initial partial payment of
3 MEUR was arranged. The amount provided to Brighter has since been fully
offset in share issues. Brighter has no outstanding debt to Winance and
terminated its arrangement with Winance in November 2019 and will not
request any more payments.
In short, the terms and conditions for the credit facility were as follows:
A second payment of 3 MEUR could be requested after a period of three
months. The remaining amount could be taken up in tranches of 0.5 MEUR,
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with provisions governing minimum interval periods. For each installment the
company would pay a fee of three percent of the amount taken up. Winance had
the right to request repayment in the form of an offset against newly issued shares
at a price corresponding to the volume weighted average price (VWAP) for the five
trading days preceding Winance’s request for repayment, reduced by 10 per cent.

Warrants TO5.
As part of this agreement Brighter undertook to issue warrants TO5 free of charge
to both Winance (corresponding to 50 percent of the number of shares issued for
repayment of the tranche) and to other shareholders (corresponding to 80 percent
of the same number). These warrants have a four year maturity, with a strike
price corresponding to 115 per cent of the VWAP for the 15 days preceding the
issue decision. After the recalculation in association with the preferential issue in
January 2020, each warrant gives the right to subscribe to 1.65 shares at 6.40 SEK
per share.
The remaining exercise periods for the warrants in warrant program TO5 are as follows:
22 May – 5 June, 2020.
20 November – 4 December, 2020.
21 May – 4 June, 2021.
22 November – 6 December, 2021.
23 May – 6 June, 2022.
21 November – 5 December, 2022.
23 May – 5 June, 2023.

Note 26. Items not affecting cash flow.
KSEK

2019

2018

Share of earnings associated companies

–1,536

–4,278

Depreciation of intangible assets

–5,270

–36

157

–127

Depreciation of tangible assets
Impairment of inventory

–7286

0

Capital gain/loss on asset

–641

0

Exchange rate losses

–186

0

–14,762

–4,441

TOTAL

Note 27. Changes to liabilities
in financing activities.
KSEK

2019

Opening financial liabilities
Cash flow related to loans raised
Cash flow related to lease liabilities
Changes to items not affecting cash flow

2018

51,893

8,437

4,000

75,357

–240

0

–34,993

Value of conversion rights for convertible debt
instruments

0

–6,253

Conversion of debt instruments

–8,437

–25,648

TOTAL

12,223

51,893
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Note 28. Financial key figures.
Definition of key figures
Net sales

Sales to external customers

Operating profit/loss

Profit/loss before financial items

Profit/loss for
the period

Profit/loss after financial items

Earnings per share

Shareholders’ equity via the number of outstanding
shares before dilution

Operating margin %

Total income via operating profit/loss

Equity ratio %

Shareholders’ equity via balance sheet total

Debt to equity ratio

Interest-bearing liabilities in relation to shareholders’ equity

Net debt

Interest-bearing liabilities less interest-bearing assets
and cash and cash equivalents

Working capital

All current assets minus current liabilities

Net financial items

Financial income minus financial costs

Balance sheet total

Total assets on balance sheet

Other external costs

All costs included in operating profit/loss, except for
costs of goods sold, personnel costs and depreciation
and share of earnings from associated companies.

Current ratio

Current assets/current liabilities

Note 29. Accrued costs and prepaid
revenues.
KSEK

2019

2018

Accrued holiday pay

1,593

942

Accrued social insurance charges

486

296

Accrued salary taxes pension

443

313

Accrued interest costs

119

3,270

10,416

2,084

Accrued accounts payable
Other interim liabilities
TOTAL
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1,481

792

15,215

7,697

Note 30. Transactions with closely
related parties.
Transactions with closely related parties in the form of remuneration over and
above directors fees took place in 2019 with the following directors. Jan Stålemark
has drawn fees of 212,550 SEK for consulting services. Lars Flening drew fees of
30,000 for consulting services and Afsaneh Ghatan Bauer invoiced fees of 173,530
SEK for legal services and expenses related to trademark registration. All amounts
are exclusive of VAT. All transactions were carried out on a commercial basis. Truls
Sjöstedt, chair of the board, is a full time employee of Brighter and was paid in
accordance with his contract of employment.
The shares in Camanio Care AB were sold for 42 MSEK to companies owned by
Henrik Norström, CEO and Truls Sjöstedt, chair of the board. The shares were sold
at the market value they were listed at on Spotlight at the time of sale.

Note 31. Significant events after the
end of the period.
The new share issue was completed with a subscription ratio of 99.54% –
corresponding to a capital injection of 191 MSEK.
Brighter acquired Nectarine Health AB that offers an intelligent monitoring solution
primarily aimed at elderly people living at home or in an elderly care home.
The US Patent and Trademark Office granted Brighter a patent for combining
MDD and IVDD in one single device.
Brighter’s main Actiste patent granted in India – can support the growing biosimilar
industry.
Patent for AI-powered safety monitoring of medical devices granted in Indonesia.
The number of shares in Brighter AB has increased. The total number of shares
and votes increased from 96,111,204 to 194,443 589.
At time of writing, the business has not been impacted by Covid-19 but as
the situation is extremely unpredictable, we cannot exclude the risk of future
interruptions. We are actively working with risk management related to the
Covid-19 pandemic that addresses our personnel, logistics and production
interruptions, sales processes etc. This extraordinary situation can come to have
a negative impact on the business in 2020, but the company cannot assess the
possible effects of this at this stage.
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Note 32. Parent Company interests in
group companies.
Parent Company, Brighter AB, owns one hundred percent of the shares and
voting rights in its subsidiary Brighter One AB, co reg no 556971-7274, with its
registered office in Stockholm and address c/o Brighter AB, Borgarfjordsgatan 18,
164 40 Kista. The sole role of the company is to hold options for distribution within
the parameters of resolved incentive programs or in association with external
financing. The shares have a book value of 50,000 SEK.
Parent company Brighter AB owns 49% of the shares and 100% of the voting rights
in subsidiary company Brighter Software Trading L.L.C. with registered address in
Dubai, UAE. The company is tasked with the sales and distribution of Actiste in UAE
and the rest of the GCC region. The shares have a book value of 738,840 SEK.
In quarter four 2019, Camanio AB, co reg no 559215-8785 and address
Hästholmsvägen 32, 6 tr, 131 30 Nacka, was acquired. Brighter owns 100% of
the shares and voting rights in Camanio AB. Camanio AB has three wholly owned
subsidiaries; Vital integration of Scandinavia AB, Camanio Care Inc. and Bestic AB.
Camanio AB and its subsidiaries develop digital solutions for care, primarily aimed
at elderly people living at home or in care homes. The company offers digital
service platforms within healthcare, robotics, digital tools and smart technology.
The shares have a book value of 17 MSEK.

Note 33. Parent Company sales to and
purchases from group companies.
KSEK
Sales to Group companies
Purchases from Group companies
TOTAL
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Certification.
Stockholm, Thursday, April 16, 2020.
Brighter AB (publ).
The Board of Directors and CEO affirm that the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and provide a true picture of the Group's
position and results. The annual report has been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
and provide a true picture of the Parent Company’s position and results.
The management report for the group and parent company gives a true and fair view of the company’s and the group’s
operations, financial position and performance, and describes significant risks and uncertainties faced by the parent
company and the companies in the group.

Henrik Norström
CEO

Truls Sjöstedt
Chair of the Board of Directors

Tove Andersson
Member of the Board of Directors

Emanuel Lipschütz
Member of the Board of Directors

Lars Flening
Member of the Board of Directors

Jan Stålemark
Member of the Board of Directors

Catarina Ihre
Member of the Board of Directors

Our auditors report was submitted on April 16, 2020
Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Magnus Lagerberg
Authorized Public Accountant
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Revisionsberättelse
Till bolagsstämman i Brighter AB (publ), org.nr 556736-8591

Rapport om årsredovisningen och koncernredovisningen
Uttalanden
Vi har utfört en revision av årsredovisningen och koncernredovisningen för Brighter AB (publ) för år 2019.
Bolagets årsredovisning och koncernredovisning ingår på sidorna 34-77 i detta dokument.
Enligt vår uppfattning har årsredovisningen upprättats i enlighet med årsredovisningslagen och ger en i alla väsentliga
avseenden rättvisande bild av moderbolagets finansiella ställning per den 31 december 2019 och av dess finansiella resultat och
kassaflöde för året enligt årsredovisningslagen. Koncernredovisningen har upprättats i enlighet med årsredovisningslagen och
ger en i alla väsentliga avseenden rättvisande bild av koncernens finansiella ställning per den 31 december 2019 och av dess
finansiella resultat och kassaflöde för året enligt International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), såsom de antagits av EU,
och årsredovisningslagen. Förvaltningsberättelsen är förenlig med årsredovisningens och koncernredovisningens övriga delar.
Vi tillstyrker därför att bolagsstämman fastställer resultaträkningen och balansräkningen för moderbolaget och koncernens
rapporter över totalresultatet och finansiell ställning.

Grund för uttalanden
Vi har utfört revisionen enligt International Standards on Auditing (ISA) och god revisionssed i Sverige. Vårt ansvar enligt dessa
standarder beskrivs närmare i avsnittet Revisorns ansvar. Vi är oberoende i förhållande till moderbolaget och koncernen enligt
god revisorssed i Sverige och har i övrigt fullgjort vårt yrkesetiska ansvar enligt dessa krav.
Vi anser att de revisionsbevis vi har inhämtat är tillräckliga och ändamålsenliga som grund för våra uttalanden.

Annan information än årsredovisningen och koncernredovisningen
Detta dokument innehåller även annan information än årsredovisningen och koncernredovisningen och återfinns på sidorna
1–33. Den andra informationen består av en beskrivning av bolagsstyrningen och information om verksamheten men innefattar
inte årsredovisningen och vår revisionsberättelse avseende denna. Det är styrelsen som har ansvaret för den andra
informationen.
Vårt uttalande avseende årsredovisningen och koncernredovisningen omfattar inte denna information och vi gör inget uttalande
med bestyrkande avseende denna andra information.
I samband med vår revision av årsredovisningen och koncernredovisningen är det vårt ansvar att läsa den information som
identifieras ovan och överväga om informationen i väsentlig utsträckning är oförenlig med årsredovisningen och koncernredovisningen. Vid denna genomgång beaktar vi även den kunskap vi i övrigt inhämtat under revisionen samt bedömer om
informationen i övrigt verkar innehålla väsentliga felaktigheter.
Om vi, baserat på det arbete som har utförts avseende denna information, drar slutsatsen att den andra informationen
innehåller en väsentlig felaktighet, är vi skyldiga att rapportera detta. Vi har inget att rapportera i det avseendet.

Styrelsens och verkställande direktörens ansvar
Det är styrelsen och verkställande direktören som har ansvaret för att årsredovisningen och koncernredovisningen upprättas
och att de ger en rättvisande bild enligt årsredovisningslagen och, vad gäller koncernredovisningen, enligt IFRS, så som de
antagits av EU, och årsredovisningslagen. Styrelsen och verkställande direktören ansvarar även för den interna kontroll som de
bedömer är nödvändig för att upprätta en årsredovisning och koncernredovisning som inte innehåller några väsentliga
felaktigheter, vare sig dessa beror på oegentligheter eller på fel.
Vid upprättandet av årsredovisningen och koncernredovisningen ansvarar styrelsen och verkställande direktören för
bedömningen av bolagets och koncernens förmåga att fortsätta verksamheten. De upplyser, när så är tillämpligt, om
förhållanden som kan påverka förmågan att fortsätta verksamheten och att använda antagandet om fortsatt drift. Antagandet
om fortsatt drift tillämpas dock inte om styrelsen och verkställande direktören avser att likvidera bolaget, upphöra med
verksamheten eller inte har något realistiskt alternativ till att göra något av detta.

Revisorns ansvar
Våra mål är att uppnå en rimlig grad av säkerhet om huruvida årsredovisningen och koncernredovisningen som helhet inte
innehåller några väsentliga felaktigheter, vare sig dessa beror på oegentligheter eller på fel, och att lämna en revisionsberättelse
som innehåller våra uttalanden. Rimlig säkerhet är en hög grad av säkerhet, men är ingen garanti för att en revision som utförs
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enligt ISA och god revisionssed i Sverige alltid kommer att upptäcka en väsentlig felaktighet om en sådan finns. Felaktigheter
kan uppstå på grund av oegentligheter eller fel och anses vara väsentliga om de enskilt eller tillsammans rimligen kan förväntas
påverka de ekonomiska beslut som användare fattar med grund i årsredovisningen och koncernredovisningen.
En ytterligare beskrivning av vårt ansvar för revisionen av årsredovisningen och koncernredovisningen finns på Revisorsinspektionens webbplats: www.revisorsinspektionen.se/revisornsansvar. Denna beskrivning är en del av revisionsberättelsen.

Rapport om andra krav enligt lagar och andra författningar
Uttalanden
Utöver vår revision av årsredovisningen och koncernredovisningen har vi även utfört en revision av styrelsens och verkställande
direktörens förvaltning för Brighter AB (publ) för år 2019 samt av förslaget till dispositioner beträffande bolagets vinst eller
förlust.
Vi tillstyrker att bolagsstämman behandlar förlusten enligt förslaget i förvaltningsberättelsen och beviljar styrelsens ledamöter
och verkställande direktören ansvarsfrihet för räkenskapsåret.

Grund för uttalanden
Vi har utfört revisionen enligt god revisionssed i Sverige. Vårt ansvar enligt denna beskrivs närmare i avsnittet Revisorns ansvar.
Vi är oberoende i förhållande till moderbolaget och koncernen enligt god revisorssed i Sverige och har i övrigt fullgjort vårt
yrkesetiska ansvar enligt dessa krav.
Vi anser att de revisionsbevis vi har inhämtat är tillräckliga och ändamålsenliga som grund för våra uttalanden.

Styrelsens och verkställande direktörens ansvar
Det är styrelsen som har ansvaret för förslaget till dispositioner beträffande bolagets vinst eller förlust. Vid förslag till utdelning
innefattar detta bland annat en bedömning av om utdelningen är försvarlig med hänsyn till de krav som bolagets och
koncernens verksamhetsart, omfattning och risker ställer på storleken av moderbolagets och koncernens egna kapital,
konsolideringsbehov, likviditet och ställning i övrigt.
Styrelsen ansvarar för bolagets organisation och förvaltningen av bolagets angelägenheter. Detta innefattar bland annat att
fortlöpande bedöma bolagets och koncernens ekonomiska situation, och att tillse att bolagets organisation är utformad så att
bokföringen, medelsförvaltningen och bolagets ekonomiska angelägenheter i övrigt kontrolleras på ett betryggande sätt. Den
verkställande direktören ska sköta den löpande förvaltningen enligt styrelsens riktlinjer och anvisningar och bland annat vidta
de åtgärder som är nödvändiga för att bolagets bokföring ska fullgöras i överensstämmelse med lag och för att
medelsförvaltningen ska skötas på ett betryggande sätt.

Revisorns ansvar
Vårt mål beträffande revisionen av förvaltningen, och därmed vårt uttalande om ansvarsfrihet, är att inhämta revisionsbevis för
att med en rimlig grad av säkerhet kunna bedöma om någon styrelseledamot eller verkställande direktören i något väsentligt
avseende:

•

företagit någon åtgärd eller gjort sig skyldig till någon försummelse som kan föranleda ersättningsskyldighet mot bolaget

•

på något annat sätt handlat i strid med aktiebolagslagen, årsredovisningslagen eller bolagsordningen.

Vårt mål beträffande revisionen av förslaget till dispositioner av bolagets vinst eller förlust, och därmed vårt uttalande om detta,
är att med rimlig grad av säkerhet bedöma om förslaget är förenligt med aktiebolagslagen.
Rimlig säkerhet är en hög grad av säkerhet, men ingen garanti för att en revision som utförs enligt god revisionssed i Sverige
alltid kommer att upptäcka åtgärder eller försummelser som kan föranleda ersättningsskyldighet mot bolaget, eller att ett
förslag till dispositioner av bolagets vinst eller förlust inte är förenligt med aktiebolagslagen.
En ytterligare beskrivning av vårt ansvar för revisionen av förvaltningen finns på Revisorsinspektionens webbplats:
www.revisorsinspektionen.se/revisornsansvar. Denna beskrivning är en del av revisionsberättelsen.
Stockholm den 16 april 2020
Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB
Magnus Lagerberg
Auktoriserad revisor
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